AN OFFICE ANALYSIS AND DIAGNOSIS METHODOLOGY

by

Juliet Sutherland

March 1983

This work was supported in part under a contract with Exxon Enterprises, Inc. and a grant from IBM Corporation.

©Massachusetts Institute of Technology 1983

Massachusetts Institute of Technology Laboratory for Computer Science Cambridge, Massachusetts 02139

AN OFFICE ANALYSIS AND DIAGNOSIS METHODOLOGY

by

Juliet Sutherland

Submitted to the Department of Electrical Engineering and Computer Science on January 26, 1983 in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the Degree of Master of Science

Abstract

With the advent of computer technology designed for use in the office, office analysis, or the process of understanding office work for the purposes of introducing technology, has become increasingly important. The Office Analysis and Diagnosis Methodology (OADM) is a tool to help the analyst gather the data required to decide how, and whether, to introduce office automation technology into a particular office. OADM is best suited for studying semi-structured offices, rather than pure processing operations or special projects. OADM is used to perform a detailed study of a single office and is not designed for use in determining the general automation needs of a large organization.

Initial experience with OADM's ideological parent the Office Analysis Methodology (OAM) suggested areas for change and OADM is designed to overcome the perceived weaknesses of OAM. An evaluation of OAM presented in this thesis confirms its limitations. OADM has not been evaluated directly, however, the evaluation of OAM shows that the most significant differences between OAM and OADM should make OADM a more useful methodology.

Chapters 2, 3 and the appendices of this thesis form a complete manual for the use of OADM, but do not provide a description of the office model on which OADM is based.

Acknowledgments

I have been fortunate to have had two thesis advisors. I am grateful to Michael Hammer for his support and advice while I was learning about office automation. He strongly influenced my final thesis topic and suggested many interesting avenues to explore. I particularly acknowledge the guidance provided by Marvin Sirbu. He encouraged me to overcome shyness and a disinclination to explore certain lines of investigation and helped me to understand the importance of several parts of my thesis. I am grateful to Marvin for becoming my advisor on short notice and for the time he put into reading and commenting drafts of my thesis.

A large number of other people have provided valuable help. I must particularly acknowledge the assistance of Jay Kunin who taught me OSL, provided a sounding board for ideas, and who taught OADM in Central America when I could not go myself. I also acknowledge Sandor Schoichet who provided valuable guidance while I learned OAM and Craig Zarmer whose early support work added to this thesis. Lee Sproull and Chris Bullen provided guidance in learning about new fields. Without the help of those people who participated in OAM field studies this thesis would not be possible. I am particularly indebted to Bill Harris, Lars Roesch, Ed Landry, and several others who must remain anonymous, for their detailed and thoughtful feedback.

Without a pleasant working environment I could not have completed this thesis. The members of the Office Automation Group, and the second floor in general, have provided such an environment. I am particularly grateful to Ann Finn for listening to complaints, Stan Zdonik for providing encouragement, and to John Cimral for giving up terminals and telephone lines when I needed them.

I reserve the place of honor for my family. My parents' belief that I can do anything I attempt has given me the confidence to attempt and complete this thesis. I gratefully acknowledge their continuing support and encouragement. My husband's support throughout my time at MIT has been invaluable. His encouragement provided motivation after several months of no progress and, as the pressure to meet the thesis deadline rose, he again provided the emotional support and freedom from mundane chores that I required. May you who read this benefit someday from such love and care.

.

To my husband, Jay Koven, and my parents,

Ivan and Marcia Sutherland

,

.

Table of Contents

Chapter One: Introduction	9
1.1 Office Automation	9
1.2 Office Analysis	11
1.3 Other Methodologies	12
Chapter Two: Background	14
2.1 An Office Model	14
2.1.1 Focal Object	14
2.1.2 Functions	15
2.1.3 Procedures	16
2.2 Office Analysis Methodology	18
2.2.1 Outline of OAM	19
2.2.2 Limitations of OAM	20
2.3 Theory	21
2.3.1 Changes	21
2.3.2 A New Theory	22
Chapter Three: The Methodology	24
3.1 Getting Started	25
3.1.1 Office Constituencies	26
3.1.2 The Study Team	28
3.1.3 The Unit of Analysis	29
3.2 Overview of the Study Process	30
3.3 Meet With the Manager	31
3.3.1 Before the Interview	32
3.3.2 The Interview	33
3.3.3 Ground Rules	34
3.3.4 Functions and Resources	38
3.3.5 Organizational Context	39
3.3.6 Who to Interview	40
3.3.7 Success Factors	42
3.3.8 Manager's Work	43
3.4 Interview the Office Personnel	44
3.4.1 Before Each Interview	44
3.4.2 Conducting the Interview	46
3.5 Observation	49
3.6 Interview Outside People	51
3.6.1 Before the interview	52
3.6.2 Conducting the Interview	52

3.7 Analysis			53
3.7.1 Procedure Analysis			53
3.7.2 Other Analysis			55
3.8 The Draft Description			58
3.8.1 Current Procedures			58
3.8.2 The Symptom List			61
3.9 The Quantitative Questionnaire			61
3.9.1 Questionnaire Preparation			62
3.9.2 Log Preparation			62
3.9.3 Analysis of Results			63
3.10 Iterate the Interview Process			65
3.11 Final Review			65
3.12 Additional Comments			67
3.12.1 Continuing the process			67
3.12.2 More on questionnaires			68
3.12.3 Large organizations			69
3.12.4 The use of forms			70
Chapter Four: Evaluation			72
4.1 Basis for Evaluation		•	70
4.1 Basis for Evaluation 4.1.1 OAM			72 73
4.1.1 OAM 4.1.2 OADM			74
4.1.2 OADM 4.2 Teaching Tools			76
4.3 The Automation Decision			78 79
4.4 Re-organizing Office Work			80
4.5 System Design			82°
4.6 Procedure Manuals			84
4.7 Case Studies			85
4.8 General Comments			86
T.O General Comments			
Chapter Five: Conclusions			88
5.1 Usefulness			88
5.2 Further Research			90
Appendix A: Interview Checklists	• • • • •		92
Appendix A: Interview Checkinsts			92
Appendix B: Analyst Forms	an the second	e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e	102
B.1 Guide to using the Checklists			102
B.2 Checklist for manager interview			104
B.3 Checklist for staff interviews			108
B.4 Procedure details			110
B.5 Databases			111
B.6 Logs			112
B.7 Communications			113
Annendix C: Questionnaires, Logs			114
ADDRING C. CHINGSIADANIAS I AAS		1	114

C.1 Quantitative Questionnaire	114
C.2 Procedure Logs	146
References	148

Chapter One

Introduction

"Each office is different" may be a platitude, yet it is the heart of the office automation problem. Offices are complex systems, with infinite variations along many dimensions. In order to optimize any system, one must know how the system works, what is wrong with it, and how to do an optimization. This thesis will address the second of these items, based on a model for the first that has already been developed.

1.1 Office Automation

Since this thesis is to concern a method for improving office automation, some definitions and background are in order. *Office automation* is usually taken to mean the introduction of technology into an office to "automate" it, an analogy taken from the automation of factories. This basic conception is correct, but by no means complete. Simply placing a word processor in the middle of a busy office does not constitute automation. The technology must be used, and, in order to fit the factory analogy, must somehow improve the *productivity* of the office. Figuring out how best to use the available technology, and determining the value of any benefits derived therefrom, are current research topics.

There are many approaches to the problem of bringing technology into an office. In the 1950's and 1960's, office automation meant what is now known as data processing. Since data processing simplifies certain kinds of office work, it certainly meets the above definition of office automation. One current approach to office automation is to extend data processing to include such items as source data capture and end-user oriented systems. But the techniques that data processing employs and the types of work for which it is best suited are limited. Data processing traditionally focuses on fixed, highly structured, data intensive applications while most offices tend to be text oriented, interactive, and changing. Therefore, traditional data processing techniques do not appear to be the best way to approach office

automation.

Another approach to office automation is to mechanize the *tasks* performed in the office. In this approach, secretaries and clerks are provided with tools, such as word processors, electronic filing cabinets and electronic mail to aid in the capture, manipulation, storage, retrieval, reproduction and communication of information. While certain benefits can be gained by giving secretaries and clerks more powerful tools with which to accomplish the old tasks, this approach has the disadvantage of assuming that the current operations are optimal. Studies have shown that the benefits of automation come as much from the rationalization or restructuring of office tasks as from the introduction of technology. In addition, this approach does not address the needs of principals (managers, professionals, or knowledge workers) who account for a large portion of an office's labor costs.

A third approach to office automation is to provide the knowledge worker with a better working environment, that is, to augment his personal abilities with appropriate tools. In this approach, a knowledge worker or a group of such workers may be provided with such tools as personal databases, computer aids for composing, spelling correction and document sharing, computer conferencing, and the sharing of information. The major problem with this approach is that it still focuses on the surface tasks of such a person's work, rather than on the actual content.

Yet another approach to office automation is decision support. A decision support system seeks to provide decision makers with tools that actively assist them in accessing and analyzing information. These systems are highly problem-specific, tailored to answer "what if?" questions about a particular domain. In addition, these systems are designed to support an unstructured or semi-structured decision process. This approach does begin to address the substance of some types of office work, but offices, and the people in them, do much more than make decisions in specific, narrow domains.

The approach to office automation that will be used in this thesis is stated best by Hammer and Sirbu in What is Office Automation?. They say

Our perspective on office automation is based on a view of the office as a place of business, not as a site for document handling and information processing. The purpose of every office is to realize a *mission*, to implement some business function that can be expressed in terms of the goals and needs of the organization of which the office is a part. The existence of this office function is inevitable and axiomatic, even though it may be disguised at times by people's emphasis on their day-to-day tasks and activities. The essence of office work, which must serve as the basis for any effective measure of office work and office productivity, should not be confused with the artifacts of current office operation. It is the rare office whose goal and function it is to produce letters. More likely, the office exists to purchase goods, to manage the human resources of the organization, or to approve payments and claims again an insurance policy. Letter-writing, record maintenance, communicating, and the like all play roles in accomplishing these functions; however, they are only the superficial aspects of office work, the means used to realize an end. Moreover, they are coincidental and inessential, since under a different set of circumstances alternative means might be feasible and even preferable. Our focus is on the purpose of office work; the function itself, rather than any particular implementation of it, is foremost in our priorities. [25]

1.2 Office Analysis

An approach to, or a general theory about, office automation does not specify what to do to automate an office. Within the larger context of improving the performance of an entire organization there are many issues that must be addressed. These issues range from making a strategic plan for office automation, to deciding when to automate a particular office, to specifying the form and type of data to put into a database for that office. Obviously, these problems, and the many others that may be encountered, are very different and so require different solutions. This thesis presents one possible solution to a particular class of problems within this general context.

In order to understand the set of problems that are addressed, one must first understand the office automation process. Office automation, as applied to an entire organization, is often thought of as the process of developing a strategic plan for automation and understanding the overall automation needs of the organization. This thesis does not address either of these issues. Rather, the methodology presented here is intended to be used as a tool in automating individual offices.

The automation process for a particular office often starts with the decision to consider automation. The office is examined to obtain the information necessary to decide whether or not to automate. This decision often requires that a system be designed and cost justified. System design includes choosing the technology, choosing a vendor, and deciding specifically how the new system is to work. Once the system has been designed and justified, it must be purchased and installed in the office. This is usually known as implementation. Implementation includes a variety of activities that range from installing the hardware and software to training office personnel to use the new system. The system will continue to change after implementation as individual users find new uses for it and these uses are adopted by the rest of the office. In addition, the office may change, resulting in changes to the system which require repeating all or most of the process.

The series of problems addressed by this thesis are those that involve the initial understanding of how the office works and what should or could be changed. The thesis presents an Office Analysis and Diagnosis Methodology (OADM) to help the office analyst with this stage of the automation process. The result of an OADM study is a description of the current operations of the office, a list of problems or opportunities for change in the office, and most, if not all, of the quantitative data necessary for cost justification. OADM does not tell the analyst how to do a system design, although it provides the necessary information, nor does it address implementation issues.

1.3 Other Methodologies

Since the problem addressed by OADM is a common one, it is not surprising that other methodologies have been developed to deal various parts of it. The methodology that is most relevant to OADM is the Office Analysis Methodology (OAM) [57, 55] developed in the Office Automation Group of the Massachusetts Institute of Technology's Laboratory for Computer Science. Since OAM is an ideological parent of OADM it will be discussed in detail in chapter 2.

Another similar office model and methodology has been proposed by Ellis and Cook [17, 12, 18]. It is based on the notion of Information Control Networks. This approach represents the flow of control and information in an office as a network and applies network theory. The model and methodology are designed to help understand how to restructure office procedures and so address a different stage of the automation process than OADM.

Other approaches have been suggested by Bauman and Coop [4] and Ladd and Tsichritzis

[34]. Both of these approaches look primarily at tasks rather than higher level procedures. Bauman and Coop structure the office around the definition, organization, assignment, staging, and scheduling of work. They say nothing about what the work is, what it is trying to accomplish, or why it is important. Ladd and Tsichritzis model the office in terms of abstract forms and their flow through the office. While this approach is similar to the model used by OADM in some ways, it appears to be limited to fairly routine processing. The process of recruiting new companies for MIT's Industrial Liaison Program could not be described in this model.

Chapter Two

Background

In order for OADM to make sense, the reader must be familiar with a few key concepts. These concepts will be discussed in this chapter and include the function/procedure model of office work, the Office Analysis Methodology, Critical Success Factors, and problems, symptoms, and opportunities.

2.1 An Office Model

OADM uses the same model of the office as OAM. This model is best described in *Analysis* and *Specification of Office Procedures* by J. Kunin [32]. However, for the sake of clarity, those portions of the model which are relevant to this thesis will be summarized. The model shows that there is structure in an office. An office will have a mission. It will have functions and procedures. It will have control over some parts of its environment but not over others. The model incorporates these ideas into a structure of office work that emphasizes understanding the office in simple, high-level, terms.

2.1.1 Focal Object

Rather than understanding the office in terms of paper flow, or job description, the model focuses on the *object*, an entity that may or may not have a tangible embodiment. An object is not a document, although it may be associated with one or more documents, nor is it a physical item such as a typewriter. Rather, an object is an abstract idea, something that is of interest in, or that is central to, the functioning of the office. Objects are usually associated with a series of activities, for example, in ordering supplies, the object of interest is the request for supplies. Note that while this request is usually represented by a requisition form, the request may also be verbal or electronic. The current implementation should not be confused with the abstract object. Some other series of activities with their associated

objects might be:

- processing travel vouchers: trip
- sales solicitation: proposal
- salary review: employee
- university admissions: application
- insurance broking: risk

Each of these objects will have its own physical representation. For the admission application this may consist of the application form, the letters of recommendation, test scores, a grade transcript, some entries in various lists about the completion of, or decision on, the application, and so on. The single abstract object known as the application includes all of these. Even if the physical form were totally changed, the idea of an application would still remain. The best test for an object is to think about whether it would change if it were implemented differently. If it would not, then the entity is probably an object. An office may handle many instances of an object at once, as for example in the admissions office where, at any given time, many applications are in various stages of completion.

2.1.2 Functions

In many cases a set of office procedures fits into the framework of a *function*. A function concerns the management of objects over time, and has three parts:

- an initialization phase: creates a particular instance of an object,
- a management phase: controls the objects during their lifetimes, working primarily in response to external events
- a termination phase: disposes of a particular instance of an object.

A function may connect the business operations of several offices, since objects may be created in one office, managed in other offices, and terminated in still others. For example, a student loan may be approved, that is, brought in to being, by a Student Financial Aid Office, but managed from the preparation of the loan document through the final payment of the loan by another office, the Student Loan Office.

2.1.3 Procedures

Office operations are described in terms of *procedures*, which provide structure for activities that are performed on objects. A procedure description indicates what is to be done and when to do it. Functions provide a framework for procedures, indicating when the procedures are to be performed. Each function has at least three procedures, an initiation procedure, one or more management procedures, and a termination procedure.

Every procedure has a *focal object* which is the object with which it is concerned. The procedure is organized in terms of the history of the object and the goals for processing the object. The procedure describes what happens to the object if all goes as it should. Looked at in this way, most office procedures that are usually obscured by implementation details, become quite simple processes. A procedure description emphasizes the "main-line" and separates out the special cases. This makes it easy to get an overview of the procedure, provides a simple structure onto which one can build more detail, and helps to distinguish the current implementation from the higher level goals. The "main-line" is just a series of desired state changes of the focal object.

The primary difference, then, between functions and procedures, is that functions manage objects, while procedures change the state of objects. A function describes the entire life cycle of an object. A procedure describes the steps that are required to effect some change in the object. For example, one procedure in the Admissions Office might move an application from the "request" state to the "completed" state.

A procedure expresses the progress of its object through a succession of stages, known as *states*, beginning with some starting state. A state represents a point at which no further activity can take place until something happens, an *event*. When the event occurs, some work takes place to move the object to the next state. This work is the *step*. A procedure usually begins with the *null* state. During any state, different events may occur leading to different steps and different subsequent states. Examples of two procedures are:

- Letter of credit

* receive application (event)

* process application (step)

- * wait for approval (state)
- * receive approval (event)
- * issue letter and inform client (step)
- * wait for payment request (state)
- * receive payment request (event)
- * process issue payment (step)
- * done (state)
- Grant extended sick leave
 - * receive request and doctor's letter (event)
 - * verify letter; decide on request; complete, send, file forms (step)
 - * done (state)

Events usually fall into one of several categories. These categories include:

- explicit command by someone
- date/time, absolute or relative
- receipt (or non-receipt) of a communication
- change in status of an object
- initiation or completion of some activity

Often some particular aspect of the object itself will require that it be processed in some alternate way. For purposes of clarity, such alternatives are expressed as modifications to the procedures called *variations*. A variation is an *a priori* object-based deviation from the normal step/event/state sequence. For example, at MIT, the applications of foreign students are treated somewhat differently from the applications of students who are citizens of this country.

It is sad but true that the course of a procedure seldom runs smoothly. An event may not happen, a signature may not be where it is required, a meeting may be canceled, or a

proposal may be withdrawn. All of these are *exceptions*. An exceptions is an occurrence that prevents a procedure from continuing in the normal way and that requires some response. Most of the complexity of office work, and of procedure descriptions, derives from the intermingling of exceptions and the "main-line". For this reason, in describing a procedure, the "main-line", or idealized case, is described first, then the usual difficulties. The word "usual" is important, since it is impossible to anticipate or specify all possible exceptions. The primary difference between variations and exceptions is that variations stem from some attribute of the object, while exceptions come from other causes.

An exception may occur at almost any level. It may apply only to a particular activity within a step, or it may apply to a entire procedure. Exception types that often occur include:

- timing constraint violations
- lost document
- backout
- cancellation

There are also certain general exceptions which can be "meta-procedural" in nature, such as

- missing personnel
- information unavailable
- backout: change a decision made earlier
- cancellation: terminate procedure abnormally

2.2 Office Analysis Methodology

The Office Analysis Methodology (OAM) was designed to collect information based on the model of the office described above. The methodology produces a description of the current operations of an office, and tells the analyst how to go about obtaining the information for that description. OAM is based on the functional model of the office that emphasizes the business function as the primary unit of study. This section describes OAM and its limitations. An approach to overcoming these limitations is discussed in section 2.3.

2.2.1 Outline of OAM

OAM starts by telling the analyst how to approach the office. It discusses the reasons for doing an analysis of an office and how these different reasons can result in different approaches to the office and different problems while doing the study. For example, a study performed because upper management has said that an office is to be automated requires that the analyst work hard to achieve rapport and a helpful, friendly relationship with the office staff, while a study that is done at the request of the office manager and with the help of a person from the office requires less effort in these areas.

The next step in an OAM study is to meet with the office manager. This meeting has several purposes. The first is to lay a groundwork for the study. The analyst explains what OAM is and outlines the amount of time and effort that will be required from office personnel, typically 2-3 hours each. The analyst should also be certain that the exact scope and purpose of the study are defined. The next step is for the analyst to ask about the office itself: the mission, the internal structure, its place in the organization, what other offices it communicates with, and so forth. Finally, the analyst should make arrangements to have the manager tell the office staff about the study and let them know who the analyst is.

The analyst then interviews the office staff, looking for procedures, objects and functions. Each interview takes about an hour, and the analyst uses the model of the office to direct the interview. OAM provides a lot of detail about interviewing techniques. After the first few interviews, the analyst starts writing a first draft of the description. After each interview, the analyst will add to, or modify, the description according to the information obtained. When all of the interviews are finished, the analyst completes the description, then circulates it back to be read by the people who were interviewed. A few days later, the analyst goes back to do a second round of interviews, looking for mistakes in the description, adding material that was not obtained in the first round of interviews, and asking about exceptions and variations to procedures.

The interview, circulate description, and interview again, pattern is repeated until the analyst has obtained a complete description of the office agreed upon by all of the people who have been interviewed. Theoretically, the description should be complete after two rounds of interviews, but in practice the analyst often has to go back to a few of the people for a third interview. When a consensus is reached, the analyst gives a copy of the final description to the manager, then interviews the manager again. At this interview, the analyst asks for any comments on the description and about any general exceptions that apply to the office as a whole. Once the manager's changes and data are incorporated into the final description, the process is finished.

2.2.2 Limitations of OAM

OAM is more useful in some types of offices than others. In particular, it works best for offices that have at least some structure. This is not to say that it needs as much structure as most of the data processing techniques. In fact, studying an extremely routinized operation, such as payroll, will not make use of many of the capabilities of OAM. However, offices that are totally unstructured, such as those whose sole purpose is to work on special projects, will not be easy to study with OAM and the results will be unsatisfactory. In addition, even within a semi-structured office, some office personnel, particularly managers, will have fairly unstructured jobs. The standard OAM interview will fail here, since there will be no structure to guide the interview and no way to find the information specified by OAM.

Another limitation of OAM is the amount of effort required to perform an OAM study in a large office. In an office with people doing more than about 20 different jobs, an OAM study may take weeks. The time required to interview all the people, preferably two for each kind of job, and the problems of scheduling all the interviews, result in sufficient elapsed time that the office may change during the study period. In addition, the amount of information that the analyst must absorb and organize can saturate the analyst's ability to do so. Fortunately, most large organizational units can be broken into smaller ones that are of a reasonable size for an OAM study.

One final limitation of OAM is that it takes a descriptive, rather than a normative, approach to understanding office work. While describing the current operations of an office may be useful for some purposes, the lack of any normative material can make determining how to change the office very difficult. While the first step in any change is to understand the current situation, the next step is to decide what to change about it. Without any information about what is wrong or what could be changed, OAM does not contribute to any further parts of the process.

2.3 Theory

OADM builds upon OAM. The new material and the theories on which it is based are described in this section. The changes, such as the change in attitude toward questionnaires, are discussed first, followed by an explanation of theoretical material that is truly new in OADM.

2.3.1 Changes

One of the basic assumptions underlying OAM is that the complexity of office work, at the level on which OAM operates, requires interviews as the only reasonable tool for an analyst to use in understanding an office. Previous work on OAM has suggested that this assumption is incorrect and that questionnaires or other data gathering instruments may be useful in certain areas. However, these other data gathering methods have not been incorporated into OAM and their use has not been tested. OADM takes the approach that while questionnaires cannot be used to understand the structure of an office in terms of the function/procedure model, they can indeed be used to gather background information and quantitative data. OADM incorporates and tests the use of questionnaires and logs for these purposes.

Another modification to OAM involves the data that are gathered about the intention behind the work performed in an office. OAM suggests, although it does not emphasize, that the analyst collect information about why each procedure and procedure step is performed. OADM does emphasize this material and requires the analyst to obtain this information for each function, procedure, and procedure step. While this is not a major theoretical modification, it should strongly influence the usefulness of the resulting description.

A third modification to OAM involves the incorporation of the concept of Critical Success Factors [50, 7] developed by Rockart and Bulles of MIT's Center for Information Systems Research. They suggest a methodology for analyzing what factors a manager considers crucial to the performance of her job. OADM adapts this material to look at what factors are crucial to the performance of an office. These factors then help identify leverage points, that is, those places where improvement in operations will most improve the effectiveness of the entire office.

While the changes that have been described, along with other, smaller, changes in emphasis

or procedure, would be enough to create a new methodology, they are only minor modifications when compared to the last change. OAM explicitly takes a descriptive approach, that is, the result of an OAM study describes the current operations of an office without comment as to whether the operations are good or bad. The advantage of this approach is that it avoids having to define what good or bad procedures mean. The problem with the approach is that most people who use the methodology are interested in "improving" office operations. This means, by definition, that some judgment must be made about the current operations. OAM provides very little help in this area. In fact, OAM was initially developed with the idea that there would be a second methodology, to be developed at some later date, which would go from the description to the system design, thereby helping the analyst to make these judgments. Thus far, attempts to develop the second methodology have failed. One reason for this failure may be that information necessary to determine what the problems are in an office is missing from the writeup. In an attempt to address these problems, OADM has incorporated the notions of symptoms, problems, and opportunities.

2.3.2 A New Theory

In some of the offices that have been studied, there have been cases where what seemed like problems were not, in fact, the real problems at all. For example, in the Office of Sponsored Programs, the officers who are responsible for the various programs were found to spend a significant amount of time talking to each other on the telephone. The obvious technical solution to a situation like this is to put in an electronic mail system. That way, the shadow time lost in dialing, busy signals, leaving messages, etc. would be eliminated and the officers could deal with questions from other officers as they have time, rather than interrupting their current activities to do so. However, further investigation in that office found that the reason for all this conversation was that the officers were trying to find precedents for the research contracts that on which they were working. If a database of previous contracts, appropriately arranged for easy access, were installed, a lot of the communication between officers could be eliminated. Eliminating communication always sounds dangerous, but in this case, a lot of time, that the officers themselves would rather spend doing other things, would be saved. This is an example of the symptom of a problem being absolutely clear, while the actual problem itself remains obscure.

A symptom is anything that that analyst or someone in the office feels is not ideal. The

definition of ideal, or of what is wrong, depends very much on the judgment of the people who involved. Offices are so varied, and the circumstances vary so much, that there can be no absolute definition. This is a problem with introducing normative ideas into the methodology. For example, in the case above, some of the officers complained that they spent too much time on the telephone. Others did not mention it. Those who did not mention it probably did not mind spending time calling their fellow officers. To them, it was not something in need of improvement. In this case, the analyst made the judgment that the calling was detracting from other, more productive work, and the judgment seems reasonable.

A cause is the reason why symptoms occur. The cause is determined by asking why the symptom occurs, then why that is so, and so on, until the question becomes meaningless or unanswerable. This introduces another area for judgment on the part of the analyst. Some analysts would have stopped after the first answer in the example above. Asking why the officers were talking to each other might have seemed meaningless, but, in fact, it was not. If the analysis process can be completed, and causes can be found on which everyone involved agrees, the addition to the office analysis process will be immense. As with treating a sick patient, it is usually better to treat the source of the problem than the symptom.

Finally, there may be aspects of the office which everyone agrees are functioning in the best possible way given the current implementation, but which a new implementation would improve in some way. These are *opportunities*. The identification of opportunities will depend not only on the analyst's judgment, but on knowledge of the available options for change. In the case of office automation, this means that the analyst should be aware of the possible technologies and their uses. This is another change from OAM where the assumption was that the analyst need know nothing about automation technology. While this is something of a detriment, the benefits of this innovation seem sufficient to warrant testing it in OADM.

23

Chapter Three

The Methodology

This chapter is intended to be a manual describing the use of OADM. It presumes that the reader is familiar with the material presented in chapter 2, but does not require understanding of some of the more theoretical issues that have been discussed. Included in the methodology below are not only the new ideas that have been presented so far, but also the results of additional experience with OAM that have not been written about elsewhere. This additional material includes:

- forms for organizing the analyst's data
- team work
- methods for approaching large offices

The methodology serves three purposes. These are establishing a good working relationship with the office manager and staff as a prelude to further work; preparing a complete description of the current operations of the office; and gathering information that will be necessary for the cost/benefit analysis and design stages of the automation process. The methodology provides as much guidance as possible in techniques for creating a positive atmosphere with the office staff. Since initial approaches are a key factor in this area, most of this material is discussed in the section about getting started. The remaining material is an integration of the methodology, every attempt has been made to indicate which purpose each part serves. As an aid to general understanding, the analyst should note that the function/procedure model, and therefore any parts of the methodology which relate to it, is used primarily for the description of current operations. Those parts of the methodology which do not seem to fit into the function/procedure model are usually included for the purpose of obtaining the information that will be necessary later in the process.

The discussion of the methodology which follows is organized, roughly, into the following sections:

- Getting Started. A discussion of reasons for undertaking a study, the constituencies in an office and how to approach them, who should do the study, and the suggested unit of study.
- The Manager Interview. A discussion of the items to be covered in the manager interview including the scope of the study, the expected ultimate outcome of the study, basic data to be gathered about the office as a whole, whom to interview, and information to gather about the manager's job.
- The Interview and Description Process. How to conduct an interview, what information to gather in the interview, how to prepare and administer the quantitative questionnaire and the procedure log, how to format the description and other related documents, the use of various analytic aids, the interview cycle, and many other relevant issues.
- The Final Review. Presentation of the final results to the manager. Also a discussion of how the information gathered will fit into the next steps of the process.
- Other Issues. A discussion of issues which are relevant to the methodology but which do not fit easily into one of the above categories. These include the continuation of the automation process, uses for additional types of questionnaires, use of the methodology in studying large organizations, and the use of forms to aid the analyst.

3.1 Getting Started

A study of the type described in this methodology may be undertaken for a variety of reasons. The office in question may have been identified as a site for a pilot study. Alternatively, people within the office may have requested that the study be performed, perhaps as part of a larger effort to improve the functioning of the office. Or possibly the office has been identified by people elsewhere in the organization as one that is a problem area and which should be "improved". Whatever the reason for the study, it will have an effect on how the office personnel perceive the study, and, therefore, should have an effect on how the study is performed.

Even before most studies begin, certain expectations are formed about the result of the study

and the analyst should know what, if any, particular results are expected for this study. These results may be phrased in terms of equipment (we're going to buy a word processor), organizational structure (we're going to eliminate this department), organizational image (we're going to show that this department uses state-of-the-art technologies), or in terms of productivity (we have to handle more clients with fewer people). Improved office productivity is the most common goal. Since initial expectations often influence a study, each of these goals will have very different effects on the study to be performed. For example, if the study is undertaken to determine the best use for a word processing system, then the people who commission the study will probably want to see more data about document production and less data about communications. A study undertaken to find ways to improve organizational image office work for better productivity. Without knowing the goal of the study from the start, the analyst may emphasize other aspects the study, thereby causing the study not to meet the expectations of those who commissioned it.

The analyst should always remember that the study does not stand alone, but rather is a part of a larger process. This will be true, with very few exceptions, no matter what the reason for the study. The larger process will be one of change, and the entire study will be only one step in the process of change. Office personnel are alert to change and since they are usually very wary of it, the analyst should work hard to create a positive atmosphere, setting the stage well for the changes that are likely to follow the study.

3.1.1 Office Constituencies

In performing the study, the analyst will find that there will be a variety of constituencies, each with its own concerns and needs. In most cases there will be three major constituencies:

- office personnel
- office manager
- senior management

Each constituency will be discussed separately, looking at the issues that are likely to be of concern.

In those academic fields where experiments are performed on humans, the notion of informed

consent has arisen. This concept, developed to protect people involved in experiments, states that they have a right to know that they are being experimented upon, and to know the nature of the experiment. In many ways, a study is like an experiment and informed consent should certainly apply. What this means is that anyone who is involved in the study should know that a study is being performed, who is performing it, and why. The types of information that this study collects can be obtained with the participant's full knowledge of the study and keeping the participants unaware of the study is unnecessary, not to mention unethical.

Office personnel, the first of the three constituencies, may perceive that there is a great deal of risk associated with participating in the study. After all, the study implies change, and change is often very threatening. There are a number of ways to reduce this perception of risk and all of them should be employed. One method has already been discussed, that is, informing the participants about the study. Seeing a strange person talking to other people in the office for no apparent reason is much more threatening than having been informed that a study is being conducted. Perhaps the best way to reduce the perception of risk, however, is to emphasize that the office personnel will be involved in the entire process of change. Even if they have not been involved in the steps that lead to the decision to undertake the study, they should certainly be involved in any future decisions. In addition, the methodology itself provides opportunities for all of the participants some control over the results.

Dealing with the office manager will involved certain other issues. Primarily, is this a study that she wants or needs? If the study, or the entire automation process, has been forced on her by others in the organization, then the answer is probably no. As one can imagine, this can make performing the study very difficult. The best techniques here are to point out how this study will benefit the manager herself, and to be as polite and considerate of her concerns as possible. Another concern of the office manager will be the effects of the study on the operations of the office. The manager will be the one who will have to smooth any ruffled feathers caused by the study, and the one who will have to deal with any interruptions to the work flow in the office. She will also be the one who will have to implement any changes suggested by the study.

Senior management may or may not be a part of the study environment. If, after the study is complete, major changes are to occur, these may require the support of senior management.

Depending on the organizational environment this support may be easy to obtain or it may be impossible. Senior management may consider the study a special project. This garruntees support for any changes that may follow, but runs the risk that the senior manager will interfere unduly in the study process. The analyst should be aware of the possibilities and should make a point of understanding the role of senior management in any particular study.

3.1.2 The Study Team

The next question that arises is who will do the study. We have referred to "the analyst" throughout the discussion thus far, implying that there is only one and that that person comes from outside of the office. None of these implications is necessarily true. The study may be performed by a single person or by a team, by a person from inside the office, or by an outsider. Each of these options has its benefits and its problems. There are, however, certain skills that anyone performing a study of this type should have, including:

- analytic ability
- organizational sensitivity
- system perspective
- understanding of office work
- good communication skills
- sensitivity to people
- combination of tact and persistence

It may be very difficult to find a single person who has all of these skills, and this is one of the arguments for a study team. On the other hand, some such individuals do exist, as well as others who can be trained to have the skills that they are missing.

If a team composed of people with a variety of complementary skills is formed, they must then decide how to divide the work. There are any number of possibilities, depending on the composition of the team and the style of interaction to which they are accustomed. However, a few methods are known *not* to work: having more than one interviewer for a particular interview seems to intimidate the interviewee, and having a lot of strange people invade an office all at once, also does not seem to produce good results. One division of labor that

seems to work well has one, or perhaps two, people doing the interviews, then discussing them with another member of the team who helps with the analysis. However it is done, the work must be divided up carefully since the amount of communication required in order for the team members to work together effectively can easily become enormous.

Another consideration is whether to have the analyst come from inside or outside the office. On the one hand, an insider will have a certain amount of expertise about the functioning of the office. She will already know the office personnel, the vocabulary that is unique to the office, etc. On the other hand, she may not have much experience with studying offices and will probably have to be trained to use the methodology. There are other considerations as well. An insider, performing a study on top of regular duties, may not have enough time to do a good job. An outsider may have a certain prestige that will help to inspire trust. Having an insider do the study, or be on the study team, may help to create powerful allies in the office, but it can equally easily set up internal jealousies that may jeopardize future progress. All of these considerations must be taken into account.

3.1.3 The Unit of Analysis

The ideal object of study is a functional group. That is, to study one function from beginning to end, regardless of what offices it may cover, and most functions do cover several offices. Since the object of an automation effort is to improve the business function, studying an entire function with an eye to improving it is obviously the best thing to do. However, a complete functional group usually extends beyond the practical scope of a study, either requiring too much effort or going beyond the part of the organization that has been authorized for study. The analyst must, therefore, realize that a single office may carry out

- a complete function
- several functions
- part of a function
- parts of several functions
- any combination of the above

But just realizing that there are many possible ways for functions to map into offices is not

enough. Functions may prove very hard to define and the definition may depend on the scope of the study and the entire automation effort. For example, in studying the MIT Admissions Office, one may decide that that office carries out most of an entire function: admitting students to MIT. The function starts with the procedure for sending applications to prospective students, continues through the phases of processing a completed application, and ends with the procedure for admitting a new student. On the other hand, in the context of a larger study of MIT, one may conclude that the entire admissions process is simply the initial portion of the function of keeping track of students. This function would start with the admissions procedure, continue with the procedures for keeping track of student's academic progress, graduation, and alumni activities, and end when the former student dies or is lost by the Alumni Office. Either of these analyses is correct, and the appropriate one to choose depends on the context of the automation effort.

Finally, even if the current context is constrained, other studies may be, or may have been, performed that would help to provide integration opportunities. One way of studying an entire function that covers several offices is to put studies of individual offices together. Even though some improvement to the entire function may have already been obtained by improving those parts of the function which are in the respective offices, further improvements may be possible through analysis of the interfaces between the offices and by looking for opportunities for integration. Thus, part of understanding the context of the study is knowing about other studies that may be of relevance to this one.

3.2 Overview of the Study Process

The study process consists of the following 11 steps:

- 1. Prepare and send background questionnaire.
- 2. Review questionnaire results and any other background material about the office that may be available.
- 3. Meet with the office manager.
- 4. Interview the staff.
- 5. Produce the draft documents.

6. Prepare and administer quantitative questionnaire.

7. Iterate the interview process.

8. Produce the final documents.

9. Review the study and options for improvement with the office manager.

10. Present options for improvement to the office staff and obtain feedback.

11. Prepare a plan for future action.

This overview assumes that a fairly simple office is being studied. Changes in the procedure for those variations that include complex or large offices are discussed at the points at which they apply.

3.3 Meet With the Manager

The first few steps of the study process all involve the manager and are treated as one step in the following section. For the purposes of this methodology, the office manager is the person to whom all other people in the office report, either directly or indirectly. Throughout most of this section, the assumption is made that there is one manager in the office. However, some larger offices may have several layers of management. In this case, the analyst should start with the office manager, then work her way down the organizational tree, interviewing each of the managers. The analyst should interview each manager as if the part of the office manager. Naturally, since the analyst will have background information from previous interviews, some questions will not have to be repeated. In addition, the analyst may want to have a definitive discussion with the office manager about how the study will be presented to the office staff, then go over the results of this discussion with the other managers. The problem of deciding whether a person is a manager who should have a manager interview or a nonmanager who should have a standard interview is a difficult one that the analyst will have to resolve for herself.

3.3.1 Before the Interview

In order to make the best use of the analyst's and manager's time, it is often useful to provide the manager with a list of written questions to which she should respond before the interview. This list can take the form of a questionnaire, or it can simply be incorporated into a letter. The questions should be ones which the manager can easily answer in written form or ones which may require a small amount of research by the manager before she can answer them. The idea is to gather, in advance, as much as possible of the following kinds of material:

- Organization This includes the internal organization chart of the office and some information as to where the office fits into the larger organization. Most managers can answer this question by simply providing the appropriate organization charts.
- Staffing How many people are there in the each part of the office? In a small office this question is not useful since one box on the internal organization chart will represent one person. However, in larger offices where the chart may not show every person in the office, the additional information is necessary to understand the relative sizes of the parts.
- Geography What is the physical layout of this office? Are all of the personnel in the same general area or is part of the office separated physically from the rest? If the office is separated, why? Where are the parts? How far apart are they?
- Forms What are the important forms in the office? The manager can probably delegate this one. The analyst should ask for a copy of each important form and a brief explanation of how it is used.
- Databases What are the important databases in the office? What are their approximate sizes in some measure that seems reasonable? Briefly, what kinds of information are in each database and how are the database used? How are they stored? As paper files? On computers? Microfilm? Other technologies? The analyst's knowledge of the entire organization and the types of technologies that it is likely to use will have to guide these questions.
- Data Processing Does this office interface with any kind of centralized data processing system? If so, what kinds of information does the office send to, and receive from, data processing? What reports does the office receive and, briefly, what are they used for?
- Technology Does the office currently use any computer-based systems? If so, what are the systems (manufacturer, system name, size, etc)? Briefly, how are the used? Does the office make use of any other technologies? If so, what

are they and for what are they used?

Job Descriptions What are the different job titles in this office? The analyst should ask for copies of job descriptions if they are available.

Budget What are the principal non-salary expenditures in the office? How much is spent on each? What is the total office budget?

Mission What is the basic mission of the office?

Functions What are the major functions performed by the office? The analyst should remember that the manager will not know the definition of function that is used in the function/procedure model and will answer this question is terms of her own understanding of the word. The answers, therefore, will not be the functions that will be developed later. Nevertheless, the manager's answer to this question can help to give a useful picture of the office.

The purpose for asking these questions is to obtain background information about the office. Some of this information would otherwise be obtained in the interview with the manager while the rest would come from the interviews with the office staff. Having the information before the interviews will help to reduce the length of the interviews and will help the analyst to feel less confused during the first few interviews with the office staff.

3.3.2 The Interview

The meeting with the office manager is extremely important. This meeting has many objectives including:

- establishing ground rules for the study;
- understanding the functions and resources of the office;
- verifying the organizational context;
- identifying key personnel for interviews;
- and gathering data for use in later cost/benefit analyses.

Although the manager interview is treated as a single interview throughout this methodology, it is often, in fact, two interviews. The first interview is required to establish the ground rules, and the second interview is used to obtain the factual information. Both of these parts are discussed below. If the circumstances indicate that two interviews will be necessary, then the list of background questions suggested in the previous section should be given to the manager after the ground rules have been discussed. The responses should be received and the analyst should have a chance to look at them before the next interview occurs, since they will have a direct effect on the information to be gathered in that interview.

3.3.3 Ground Rules

The first goal of the interview is to establish the ground rules for the study. This includes a number of items, some of which may vary depending on the exact context of the study. The overall purpose of this portion of the interview is to guarantee that the analyst and the manager are working from the same information and assumptions. It is worth going through each of the recommended topics carefully to be sure that there is no possibility of misunderstanding.

The very first step is introductions. The analyst should introduce herself, perhaps giving some additional information about her background and her position in the company. This is an obvious action but its inclusion or lack thereof can have important consequences. By introducing herself, the analyst is laying important groundwork for further friendly interaction. People who will not introduce themselves appear rude, and those who seem unwilling to divulge any information about themselves often leave the impression that they are unfriendly. It will be important for the manager to like and trust the analyst, so the analyst should always try to be open, polite, and friendly.

The next step is to describe the general format of the study. This includes going over the manager interview, the interviews with selected staff members, the administration of the quantitative questionnaire including the use of the procedure log, the distribution of the draft description, the additional interviews with the office staff, and the production of the final documentation. The analyst should be sure that the manager understands that the products of this study are a description of the current operations of the office and a list of the problems and opportunities in the office. The study's purpose is to understand the office and its problems, not to evaluate the performance of the office staff. The analyst should be sure that their performance is being evaluated, the study results may not be accurate. The analyst should

then go over the kinds of actions that might result from the findings of this study.¹ The reason for going over the study process, its results, and its consequences is to ensure that the manager has accurate information about what to expect. In addition, a manager who is well informed is more likely to have a positive feeling about the study than one who lacks complete information. Presumably, if the office manager requested the study, she already supports it. The analyst should be sure, however, that the manager has reasonable expectations about the products of the study.

The next step, which is strongly related to the previous one, is to indicate the level of effort that will be required from the manager and from the office staff. From the preliminary information, the analyst should be able to estimate how many people will have to be interviewed.² Two or three total hours of interview, split between two interviews, are usually needed for each person. In addition, the entire staff may have to complete a questionnaire, and the people who are interviewed will have to read the draft description. The manager should be given this information, along with some indication as to the length of the study. The manager may object that the level of effort required for the study seems excessive. If so, the analyst should point out the importance of obtaining complete and accurate data before attempting to change anything in the office. The analyst should also emphasize that the study will not interfere significantly with office operations and that the reason for telling the manager what the study involves is to allow her to plan for what little disruption might occur.

Once the analyst has given the manager some idea of what is involved in doing the study, the manager should be able to evaluate how the study will impact the office. The analyst should, therefore, ask at this point whether this is a good time to do the study. The previous material should not have been presented as if it were unchangeable, but rather in the context of, "This is what a study of this type usually takes, and here is when looks like a good time to do it. Does this fit with the resources that you have available?" It sometimes happens that, unbeknownst to those who scheduled the study, the office in question will be undergoing

¹These will vary depending on the original purpose for doing the study, the patterns of change in the organization, the results of the study, and many other factors. However, with the understanding that the actions can be stated only generally and are subject to change, the analyst should still be able to give the manager some information about what might follow the study.

²This will be a very rough estimate that indicates that everyone, or all but a few people, or half of the people, or only a few of the office personnel, will have to be interviewed.

some sort of peak work period or other upheaval that will make it impractical for a study to be conducted at that time. The analyst should, therefore, check to be sure that the proposed study period is indeed a practical one.

The next item on the agenda will be to elicit more information about the context of the study. This requires a few, fairly simple questions, such as:

- · Is this office currently involved in any other studies?
- Are there any major changes in the office expected in the near future that will effect the results of this study? A re-organization, a changing of the office mission, or anything similar?
- Have there been any major changes recently which might effect the study?

The purpose of these questions is to probe for factors which may effect the study, but of which only the manager is aware.

At this stage in the interview, the analyst should also make clear what the manager's responsibilities will be. These usually include the initial interview, introduction of the analyst to the office staff,³, filling out the quantitative questionnaire, review of the final documents, and participation in the final choice of options.

Aside from the initial interview, the most important of these will be the presentation of the study and the analyst to the office staff. Exactly how the study and the analyst are presented to the office personnel will depend on the circumstances. The three important points are first, that the office personnel should be aware of the study, its purpose, and likely ultimate outcome, second, that everyone involved understands that the study is *not* a performance evaluation, and third, that the office personnel be aware that the analyst is working with the full approval and support of the office manager. The most important of these points is that the study is not a performance evaluation. Some managers may see the study as an ideal opportunity to find out about the performance of office personnel, particularly as it relates to the identification of problems in the office. The analyst should make clear that the purpose of the study is to improve the entire office and that using the study to evaluate individual

³Or informing the staff of the study, or notifying the staff of the upcoming interviews, or whatever the particular situation calls for.

performance will defeat its purpose. It is extremely important that both the manager and the office staff understand this principle. Evidence of the manager's support and approval of the analyst and the study can easily be given in a small office by having the manager introduce the analyst around at the end of the interview. In a larger office, the manager may choose to send a memo saying that the analyst will be asking to speak with certain people.

Ideally, the office personnel will already know that an effort is underway to improve the functioning of the office, and the study can be presented as simply another step in that process. However, since the study is likely to be one of the first steps in the process, it is entirely likely that the ground work will not have been laid. In this case, the analyst must discuss with the manager the best way in which to present the study and the entire automation effort to the personnel. An important issue is the role of the office personnel in the effort. In order to avoid alienating the entire staff, and in order to take advantage of their specialized knowledge of the operations of the office, they should be included in the automation effort and their needs and opinions should be heard. Since a study is usually the first step in a process of change, the manager should realize that her control of the change will be constrained by the behavior and attitudes of the office staff. [5] This is particularly true where automation is a possible outcome, since the office staff will be the ones who will have to use the new equipment and adapt to the new work procedures. Most managers will understand this immediately, but a few may need a little guidance.

Once the participation principle has been established, the presentation of the material should be discussed. Perhaps the most effective method, in terms of effort as well as feedback, is to present the idea at a meeting of the entire staff. The manager should describe the effort, make clear that the purpose of the study is to understand the entire office and that it is not an individual performance evaluation, emphasize the desire to include office personnel in all phases of the effort, and describe the benefits and costs that will be involved. This meeting can also be used to introduce the analyst and to allow the analyst to describe some of the basics of the study process. Holding a meeting does include the risk of confrontation and the possibility that the group may make a quick, collective decision against the effort. If a meeting is not appropriate for some reason, other presentation options include having the manager speak individually with each member of the office staff, having the manager prepare a detailed memo, or having the manager brief the people who report directly to her and having them discuss the study with their subordinates. But however it happens, *everyone* must be told.

3.3.4 Functions and Resources

Once the ground rules for the study have been agreed on, the analyst can go on to ask the manager some substantive questions. The best ones to start with are those concerning functions and resources since this information gives a good overview of the office. The analyst should ask about:

- the basic mission of the office,⁴
- the functions of the office,⁵
- the major resources of the office,⁶
- and the staffing levels for each function.

Most managers can give a good, concise answer when asked about the mission of their office, and the answer usually reflects the official position. It is important to have this information since, if the goal is to improve the business function of the office, the mission states the official purpose that, presumably, is to be improved. Even if the goal of the study is not to improve productivity, knowing the official mission of the office adds one more piece to the emerging picture of the office.

When asked about the functions performed in the office, many managers will refer to the organization chart. The manager will be able to state several functions and will be able to give a brief description of each. The analyst should not try to get too much detail about the functions, since that material will be better obtained by interviewing the office staff. In addition, the analyst should always remember that further analysis may show that the functions performed by the office are not exactly the same as those outlined by the manager. However, the functions do provide a hypothesis from which to work while doing additional analysis.

⁴A good question to elicit this is, "In two or three sentences, what is the mission of this office?"

⁵Use the word function in asking the question, but remember that the manager will not understand it in the function/procedure technical sense defined in chapter 2.

⁶A good question for this is, "Is there anything the office is responsible for managing or maintaining?" If that does not produce a good answer try asking specifically about databases, files, people, etc.

In contrast to the mission and functions, many managers are not entirely aware of the important resources in their offices. The analyst should ask the manager what the important resources are in order to see what she says. The resources listed by the manager will be important ones, but there may be other, equally important ones, of which she is unaware. In any case, the manager will give the analyst a starting point from which to work.

The analyst should not forget to ask about the staffing levels for the functions that were outlined by the manager. This information is important in suggesting the relative levels of effort that go into the functions. These figures cannot provide any definite conclusions about the office, but they can suggest hypotheses for further analysis. For example, a disproportionate staff level in comparison with the importance of the function, might provide a clue to an area that could use improvement.

The analyst should already have some idea, from the questionnaire, what the answers to these questions will be. The reason for asking the questions is to verify the information that the analyst has obtained and any hypothesis that the analyst may have made. Given this previous information, these questions should not take long to answer.

3.3.5 Organizational Context

The next series of questions concerns the structure of the office and the organization to which it belongs. The information to be obtained includes:

- reporting relationships to higher management
- internal organization of the office
- staffing and support levels by job category
- key interfaces to other offices

No analyst can truly understand a part of the organization without knowing something about where it fits into the rest of the organization. An analyst cannot propose changes to the internal structure of an office without knowing the current structure. Staffing and support levels are necessary for later cost benefit analysis and as clues to potential areas of improvement. If operations are changed in this office, the change could affect other offices, so the analyst must know with which offices this one communicates most and the nature of that communication. Most of the information for this section should be available from the background questionnaire so the analyst should simple verify that the information is correct and ask the manager if she has anything else to add. This section should not take more than a few minutes to complete.

3.3.6 Who to Interview

The next step is to identify appropriate people for the analyst to interview. This will include people from within the office and people from elsewhere in the organization who have contact with the office. The analyst and the manager should work together to identify who these people will be. Using information from the background questionnaire, the analyst should have identified the kinds of people who should be interviewed. Based on this information, the manager can suggest individuals who meet the given criteria.

As the first step in identifying interview subjects within the office, the analyst should have tried to identify the different types of jobs in the office. If job descriptions were not available as part of the background information, the analyst will have to make educated guesses from the available data. The analyst will want to interview at least two people who perform each type of job. Note that job titles do not necessarily indicate what people are really doing. In many offices, there will only be one or two people doing any particular job. In these cases, the analyst may have to interview all of the office personnel. In other cases, however, there may be a fairly large number of people all doing much the same thing. This would be true of a sales organization where salesmen are divided by geographical region. In these cases, the analyst will only need to interview two or three of the people with similar jobs, enough to corroborate the results.

The analyst should tell the manager that the analysis process requires interviews with two or three people of each job type, pointing out that this does not mean job title, and should ask the manager who she would recommend. Ideal interview subjects are ones who have worked at the job for a year or two, long enough to be familiar with all of the cyclical changes, but who have not been in the job so long that it is second nature. The manager will know best who these people are. If the manager suggests that the analyst interview a significantly different number of people than she has earlier identified, the analyst should find out why. Job descriptions could be out of date or job titles could be misleading so that there are a different number of job types than the analyst had expected. Alternatively, the manager may have used her special knowledge about the office to suggest that the analyst interview additional people. It may be that some of these people, while not ideal interview subjects, should be interviewed for political reasons. The analyst should be aware of these reasons.

The discussion so far has assumed that the office has only one manager. In larger offices, however, there are likely to be several layers of management. In this case, the analyst should interview all of the managers, using the manager interview format presented in this section. The analyst should make clear to each manager that all managers who report to her will have to be included on the list of interview subjects.

Once the interview subjects from within the office have been identified, the analyst should ask the office manager to notify them that the analyst will be asking for interviews. In order to avoid starting rumors, this notification should be given after all of the office personnel have been told about the study.

The questions of who to interview from outside the office is a little less clear. The answer will depend in part on the purpose and context of the study. In most cases, the analyst should interview the person to whom the office manager reports, some people in offices which interact closely with the office in questions, and some people in offices which use the products of the office. The reason for interviewing these people is that it is hard to get a complete picture of what the office does without knowing how its products are used. In addition, certain types of problem symptoms may appear only at the interface between offices or after a product has left the office that is being studied. Therefore, the purpose of these interviews is to determine the use of the office's products and to find out from a different perspective if the office seems to have any major problems that have not been uncovered by internal study. The manager is likely to ask why outside people must be interviewed, to which the answer is the reasons that have been given.

The analyst should know from the background questionnaire, with which offices the office communicates most. At this stage in the interview, the analyst should ask the manager which people within those offices communicate most with this office. The manager should be aware of large scale cooperation or communication with other offices and should be able to suggest contacts in those offices. However, the manager may not be aware of lower level

communication or may simply be wrong about who to contact. The interviews with people from outside the office will not take place until after the first round of interviews, so the analyst will have the opportunity to find out from the office staff about low level communication and/or current contacts. The principle reason for asking the manager about who to contact in other offices is that there may be communication that involves only the manager.

The analyst should ask next about which offices or other groups use the office's products.⁷ Of all the people in the office, the manager is the most likely to be able to give a complete answer to this question. The purpose of interviewing these people is to look for problem symptoms that may not have been obvious from within the office. Since in some cases it will be difficult to interview these people, the analyst should discuss with the manager ways of obtaining the desired information and the benefit of having that information. The manager may be able to suggest other sources for obtaining the same information⁸ or may be able to provide evidence that having the information would provide little benefit. Ideally, however, the analyst and the manager will derive a list of name for interviews or a plan for gathering the required information.

3.3.7 Success Factors

The goal of the next section of the manager interview is to determine what factors are the most important to the success the entire office. These may be somewhat difficult to identify, particularly if the office manager has not given any thought to the question beforehand. Getting good information about these factors is very important, however, since they will be the basis for evaluating improvement to the functioning of the office after changes have been made. These factors are essentially the Critical Success Factors for the entire office [50, 7]. Questions that might help in determining these factors are:

- On what things in this office does the success of the entire office depend?

⁷There may be people from outside the organization who are principle users of the office's products, for example customers in a customer complaint office. This complicates the matter of finding out what the users think of the office's products. A survey could be performed, but it might be costly or otherwise impractical. The benefit of knowing the results would have to be weighed against the cost of obtaining them.

⁸In the organization's consumer complaint office, for example, there may have been previous studies done evaluating the performance of the office. While studies would not provide information from the right viewpoint, they might still provide some useful information for much less cost.

- How do you know when the office is doing a good job?
- How do you know when you are doing a good job?
- How does your boss know when the office is doing a good job?
- How does your boss know when you are doing a good job?
- Where would a sudden disaster in this office hurt the most?
- What currently prevents this office from functioning its best? Why is that important?
- If you were unexpectedly out of contact with the office for several months, what would you first want to know about the office when you returned?
- If you had more hours in a day, what would you do with them?
- If there were more people in this office, what would you have them do?

3.3.8 Manager's Work

The goal of the final section of the manager interview is to find out what the manager herself does. This will be the first step in actually understanding how the office works. This portion of the interview is likely to be difficult. The analyst does not yet have a good picture of the office into which to fit the manager's information, making it very difficult to be sure that complete information is gathered. In addition, the model of office work that is used in this methodology does not well describe managerial work. Nonetheless, the analyst should make an attempt to understand what the manager does.

Having spent most of the interview talking about the office, the analyst should make clear that this portion of the interview is about the manager's work and not about the rest of the office. The analyst can then start by asking the manager to list the kinds of things that she does. Many managers will have a hard time answering this question and will answer in terms of activities: meetings, travel, and so on. The analyst should explain that she is looking for a higher level description and might ask about things like budgeting, personnel issues, project management, and preparation of reports. The manager may then be able to give more detail about what she does for each of these topics. Even so, much of what a manager does involves dealing with the unexpected and is therefore very difficult to categorize [31].

One technique that the analyst may find useful for understanding what the manager does is to go over a day's activities. The analyst can take the manager through a recent day,⁹ a half hour to an hour at a time, asking what the manager did in each time period. This includes the people with whom she spoke, the subjects that were covered, and the reasons for all activities. From looking at a day or two in this way, the analyst may be able to see patterns that will help to explain what the manager does. In general, however, even after the entire study is concluded, the manager's job will be the least understood part of the office.

3.4 Interview the Office Personnel

The next major step in the interview process is to interview the office personnel. The method for determining who should be interviewed has been discussed in section 4.3.6. This section will discuss the details of doing an interview including what to do before the interview, how to conduct the interview, and what information is to be obtained.

3.4.1 Before Each Interview

The most important preparation for an interview is familiarity with all of the details that are currently known about the office. Results from the background questionnaire and the manager interview should be reviewed, as well as the material from any interviews that may have preceded this one. In particular, the analyst should feel as comfortable as possible with the vocabulary of the office including the names of important forms, databases, other offices of interest, etc.

The analyst should also review what she knows of the structure of work in the office. For the first few interviews this will be relatively little aside from the general outline of the office functions that was obtained from the manager.¹⁰ For later interviews, the analyst should have a wealth of data to work with. The analyst should hypothesize about where the interviewee's work will fit into the procedures and functions of the office. These hypotheses can be

⁹The more recent, the better the manager will remember it.

¹⁰And even this outline may not be correct. That is, after studying the office, the analyst may find it more meaningful to arrange the functions and procedures somewhat differently from those suggested by the manager.

informal but should be fairly specific. The hypotheses will be used in the interview to help direct lines of questioning. The analyst should, however, be careful not to allow hypotheses to interfere with data gathering. That is, people often hear only what they expect to hear and by forming hypotheses early, the analyst runs some risk of missing valuable data. Keeping this in mind, the hypotheses become a useful way to structure the interview.

The analyst should also review what is known about problem symptoms and causes in this office. A series of questions can be framed ahead of time, the answers to which will help the analyst decide what to ask about in the interview. Some of these questions are:

- Is this person likely to have any of the known problem symptoms? If so, which ones? Might the person be able to shed some light on the causes behind these symptoms?
- What are the interviewee's probable objectives in terms of her job?
- What is she likely to consider critical to her success in the job?
- What are some likely measures for her objectives and for knowing when she is doing well?

Most of these questions will be very hard to answer without actually talking to the person involved, which is, of course, the reason for the interview in the first place. However, if some tentative hypotheses can be formed, it will help in conducting the interview.

Preparing properly for each interview is important, especially for the first few. Adequate preparation will help to shorten the interview, will help the analyst to feel less overwhelmed with information, and will help to reassure the interviewees by showing that the analyst considers the study important enough to spend significant time on it.

And finally, the analyst should always make an appointment for the interview. In some cases this will be necessary in order to see the person at all. In cases where an appointment might otherwise not be made, it is a courtesy indicating that the analyst believes the interviewee's time, and therefore the interviewee, to be important. In general the analyst should be as flexible as possible about scheduling the interviews, always remembering that the interviewee is doing the analyst a favor by taking the time for the interview.¹¹

¹¹Even if the interviewee has been flatly told to comply with the interview process, taking the attitude that consenting to the interview is a favor will help to produce a better feeling.

3.4.2 Conducting the Interview

Interviews should be conducted at the person's desk or in the person's office, with just the interviewer and the interviewee present. Having another person present can interfere with the flow of the interview and might prevent the interviewee from speaking freely. Holding the interview in the interviewee's own territory is a little item that will help the person to feel more at home. In addition, it gives the analyst the opportunity to observe the person's environment, which can be very educational.

As the first step of the interview, the analyst should introduce herself and review the purpose and format of the study. The analyst should emphasize that this study is *not* a performance evaluation but rather a study of the entire office. The two step interview process should also be emphasized, as providing an opportunity for correction and feedback by the interviewee. The goal of learning from the interviewee should be stated clearly.¹² The purpose of this part of the interview is to both be sure that the interviewee is fully informed about what is going on and what will be happening, and to be sure that the interviewee feels comfortable talking to the analyst. This initial contact, requiring little effort on the part of the interviewee, is the best time to start building rapport.

The rest of the interview has two parts. During the first stage the analyst will be asking about the current operations of the office, while during the second part, the analyst will be trying to obtain information about what can or should be changed. The parts may, in fact, overlap somewhat, but knowing that there are supposed to be two parts will help the analyst to organize the flow of the interview and, therefore, her notes.

In asking people about what they currently do, it is important to remember that one can easily get lost in the details. The best way to avoid this problem is to ask the interviewee to first describe, in general terms, all of the different kinds of things that she does. Once this broad view has been obtained, the analyst can then go back to ask about the details of each item.¹³ The analyst should try to fit the general items described by the interviewee into the picture of

¹²It is amazing how many otherwise hostile interviewees become friendly and cooperative as soon as they perceive that the analyst truly wants to learn from *them*, and that they are the teachers.

¹³People are more willing to stick to the broad view first if they are told, when the broad picture is asked for, that each item will be discussed in detail later in the interview.

the office that is developing. If there is one item that seems likely to be related to a procedure or function about which the analyst already knows, she should make note of that and remember it for the later discussion of the details of that item. There is no particular order which is best for asking about the details of the general items. Since people usually mention the most important things first, taking each item in the order that was mentioned usually works well. However, if there seems to be some reason to change the order, the analyst should certainly do so.

In asking about the details of the interviewees job, the analyst should keep certain principles in mind. The first of these is not to jump in to the description too eagerly with many questions. No one likes to be constantly interrupted. The second principle is that the analyst should always have a mental model of how the office works. As the interviewee talks, the analyst should be trying to fit the information into this model. The analyst should be asking mental questions such as

- Is this activity part of a procedure that I know about? If so, where does it fit in the procedure? Does there seem to be a step missing somewhere?
- If the activity does not fit into a known procedure, what might other parts of this new procedure be? Is there someone to whom I have already spoken who might also participate in this procedure but who forgot to tell me about it? To what function does this procedure belong?

These are only a few of the questions, and are meant to give a flavor of the kinds of things that the analyst should be asking herself. The reason for keeping the model in mind is to check for the completeness of the data that are being gathered. The third principle, then, is that when the analyst does ask questions, they should always be phrased so as to check the validity of a hypothesis about the model. A fourth principle is to not probe for details beyond the individual's scope of action. While some people may really know what happens after an item leaves their control, most people will get at least some of the details wrong. It is much better to ask the person who is directly concerned about what happens next. The final, and perhaps the most important, principle, is that there is reason for everything and the analyst should know that reason. If the interviewee says that something is done, *always* ask *why* it is done. Nothing can be changed at a later date without some indication as to whether it is important and why it is important. All too often, what seems to be the reason, is in fact only part of the reason, and the other, unknown part, is vitally important to know about. For example, if a document is copied and saved, knowing why it is saved-for future reference, to provide an

audit trail, to serve as a legal contract, to conform to government regulations, etc.-- will be very important in knowing whether or not the document can be eliminated or the method of storage changed.

A common human characteristic is to either describe things in great detail or to generalize. Either one can detract from the interview. In order to avoid generalization, and to be sure that all of the details have been included, the analyst should ask for specific examples for each generalization. The best way to do this is to ask the person to describe a usual case of the activity in question. If this still produces generalizations, the analyst can ask the interviewee to describe a particular case that has happened in the recent past. To keep the interviewee from getting bogged down in special cases, the too-much-detail characteristic, the analyst should ask the interviewee to describe things as they should be. "What happens if everything goes right?" In other words, the analyst is asking the interviewee to describe the mainline of the procedure, although, of course, the interviewee will not know this terminology.

When the analyst feels she understands the interviewee's work as it should be, she should go on to the next stage of the interview, leaving the exceptions and so forth for the second round of interviews. In this next part of the interview, the analyst is looking for information about what is wrong in the office, what is not wrong but could be made better, how the interviewee knows when she is doing a good job, and what is important in being able to do so. There is no •model into which to fit the answers in this part of the interview, and it is hard to know when the information is complete. However, the analyst can start with the following list of questions and try to elicit as much information as possible.

- Do you have any problems in getting your job done? If so, what are they? (If the interviewee asks what kind of problems, the answer is "whatever comes to mind.")
- If you had more time, what would you like to do with it? Alternatively, if what you currently do suddenly took much less time, what would you do with the rest of your time at work? (These questions should also be asked about any other resources that seem to be important.)
- If you were unexpectedly out of contact with the office for several months, what would be the first thing that you would want to know when you returned? What would be the next things?

- Are there any projects, or parts of your work, that you have been trying to do but,

for one reason or another, have not been able to? If so, what are they and why have you not been able to accomplish them?

- How do you know when your work is going well? Is there some measure in the work itself (such as the number of customer complaints, or some other measure) that helps you to know when you are doing a good job? (Note that the analyst is not asking whether the person is or is not doing a good job, but rather how she would know when she does. This distinction can be important and may need to be made explicit to the interviewee.) What external measure do you use? Your boss' approval? The opinion of coworkers?

The analyst may not be able to obtain answers to all of these questions in the first round of interviews. The interviewee may need time to think about some of the questions, while others may take so long to answer that in the interests of time they may be better left to the second round of interviews. The analyst should make note of these items and conclude the interview.

The best amount of time for an interview is 30 to 90 minutes. If the interview takes less time, the analyst has not gathered sufficient data. No job is so simple that it can be adequately described in such a short time. On the other hand, an interview that lasts for more than about 90 minutes becomes very tiring for both the analyst and the interviewee. The analyst can easily start to suffer from having to assimilate too much information at once. It is much better to end the interview without having gathered all of the information described above and go back to collect it later, than to try to continue in a tired, overwhelmed state.

3.5 Observation

Another useful tool for the analyst is observation. Self-reporting, the technique primarily used in this methodology, can be somewhat inaccurate, especially with regard to frequencies of events or activities. While the structure of the interview and the two round process are designed to overcome some of the problems of self-reporting, and do so rather well,¹⁴ where ever possible it is best to try to confirm what the interviewees have been reporting with some direct observation.

There are several techniques for observing. For example, part of the reason for doing an

¹⁴Helped by the fact that people are better at reporting the logical flow of events than the frequency of events.

interview at the interviewee's desk is to take advantage of interruptions. The analyst should encourage the interviewee to permit interruptions, and should watch and listen carefully, though unobtrusively, throughout an interruption. Naturally, if the interview starts to become too disrupted by interruptions, the analyst should encourage the interviewee to try to reduce the frequency.

Another technique for observation is to arrive early for interviews. If the office is somewhat open, the analyst can use the waiting time to watch office activities. Still another technique is for the analyst to take some time after an interview, with the permission of the interviewee, to go over her notes. This serves the double purpose of allowing the analyst to actually put her notes in order while the material is still fresh in her mind, and to watch what goes on. A final technique, the most obvious, is to schedule some time specifically for the purpose of observation, and to watch the office operations during that time. If, from the interviews, it becomes obvious that there is a period of the day or week that is likely to be most "typical", then that time should be chosen. In most cases, however, the time can be chosen fairly randomly, so long as it is not likely to be abnormal in some way.¹⁵

Since the purpose of the observation is simply to verify that the reports given by the interviewees are relatively accurate, the total observation time in an office need not be very long. The analyst should do enough observation to convince herself that there are no activities going on in the office that have not been described. Observation can produce several kinds of results. These can be categorized as:

- Different uses of time. People may be spending more time in one task, such as typing, than the types of work they have described would seem to indicate. The analyst should ask the people involved about what might be causing this. The usual answer will be that the activity is one that they had forgotten to tell the analyst about.
- Social organization. While many of the details of the social organization of the office can only be determined after much more extensive observation, some of the more obvious points may begin to appear even in the small amount of observation that is recommended. For example, observation may indicate that there is one person to whom the others turn for help with questions. If so, this person fills an important role in the structure of the office, and some note should

¹⁵Common sense will indicate that certain times are likely to be bad almost anywhere, for example Friday afternoon in the summer, or the morning after a long weekend.

be made of it so that future changes can take it into consideration.

- Symptoms of problems. The analyst may observe that the office personnel spend significant amounts of time in doing certain fairly trivial tasks such as copying or filing. If so, this is certainly a symptom. There are other types of symptoms that may be observed, including odd communication problems,¹⁶ and physical organization.¹⁷
- Data for change. The analyst should note those physical characteristics of the office that might cause problems for change. For example, many offices are extremely crowded and finding places to put terminals where they will be easily accessible by the people who need to use them can be a problem. If the office is already noisy, the addition of new office equipment could make the office unbearable. If the organizational structure of the office is to change, the physical structure may change as well. Depending on how the office is arranged, this may be easy or difficult.¹⁸

Observation may not be possible or useful in all offices. If the office consists of a number of people in closed offices with secretaries outside their doors, watching the doors is not likely to prove useful. Alternatively, there may be some historical, political, or social reason why direct observation would cause bad feelings in the office. In most cases, however, by using one or more of the techniques suggested above, at least some observation can be performed.

3.6 Interview Outside People

After most or all of the interviews have been performed with the office staff, the analyst should start interviewing people from outside the office. Most of these people will have been identified in the manager interview, but in the course of interviewing the office staff, it may have become apparent that other outside people should be interviewed as well. These additional people will meet the same criteria as those identified by the manager, that is, they will be people who use products of the office or who have frequent contact with the office.

¹⁶Do people spend a lot of time talking to others for unexplained reasons?

¹⁷Do people leave their desks a lot to accomplish their work? Does the traffic pattern of the office seem congested? Is there a noise problem? And so on.

¹⁸Note that OADM does not really address the problem of facilities. Nonetheless, some information can be collected, particularly if there are obvious problems in this area.

The purpose of these interviews will be to determine the use and usefulness of the office's products and to look for symptoms or opportunities from a different perspective.

3.6.1 Before the interview

Before each interview, the analyst should review her knowledge of the office to set the context for the questions. The analyst should think about how the person to be interviewed interacts with the office and should prepare a list of questions about that interaction. If the person uses some output of the office, the analyst should think about questions whose answers measure the usefulness and quality of the product. For example, if the person uses a report that the office produces, the analyst might ask questions about how the report is used, what would happen if the report were no longer produced, how the interviewee would change the report if change were possible, and so on.¹⁹ Finally, as usual, the analyst should make an appointment to see the person.

3.6.2 Conducting the Interview

The analyst should start, as always, by introducing herself and explaining the purpose of the interview. The analyst will need to explain the study and the reasons for it, since the interviewee will probably be unaware of the study. The presentation of the study will be important since without some care, unfounded rumors about studies of this kind could quickly start circulating throughout the organization. Since a OADM study may someday take place in the office of the interviewee, the analyst should strive to lay a good foundation.

The analyst should next explain exactly what kinds of things the interview will cover. If the discussion will be about a product or service of the office, the analyst should say so. If the purpose of the interview is simply to talk with someone who has frequent contact with the office to look for symptoms of problems, the analyst should stress the positive aspects of change for the office and the interviewee's role in helping that change. Once the area for discussion has been defined, the analyst should ask the interviewee what she has to say about that area. If this produces too general a response, or too undirected a response, the

¹⁹The purpose of these questions is not to perform a complete value analysis [45] but rather to get a very rough idea about the usefulness of the product or service.

analyst should start asking questions that she has prepared. By keeping in mind the exact types of information that are being sought, the analyst should be able to structure the interview in a meaningful way.

An interview of this type should take about half an hour. The information being sought is limited and fairly specific. A significantly longer interview suggests that the analyst is getting irrelevant detail. While, for reasons of building rapport, the interview should be conducted in person, where this is not possible, this type of interview may be conducted over the telephone.

3.7 Analysis

The analysis of the data obtained through the interviews should start immediately after the first interview. This analysis will consist of two parts. The first stage of the analysis will involve fitting the data into the step/event/state model. During the second stage, the analyst will be looking for less structured material which will include the causes of the problem symptoms observed in the office, measures of various types, and the intention behind the procedures.

3.7.1 Procedure Analysis

The procedure analysis should start as soon as the analyst thinks she has enough data to do so. This usually occurs after the first two or three interviews, but the exact timing depends on the complexity of the office and the amount of background that was available to the analyst beforehand. The analysis is closely tied to the draft description, and many analysts have found that the process of trying to fit the known material into the format specified by the description, forces them to perform the analysis. The format of the draft description is given in section 3.8. For those people who prefer to have organized material from which to write, the following types of lists, constructed as the interviews progress, may be of use.

- Office Functions and Objects
- Procedures for each function
- Mainline outline for each procedure

- For each procedure step, the following information:

- * what event initiates the step
- * what is done in concrete terms
- * what terminates the step
- * what are the timing constraints
- * what are the inputs and outputs
- * what are the sources and destinations
- * which databases and "mental lists" are used
- * how (and what) special equipment is used

- Databases and mental lists

After the first round of interviews, the analyst will not have all of the information that is required for a complete description. One of the purposes for doing the analysis is to find out what information is missing, so that it can be obtained during the second round of interviews. In addition to any material that may be missing from the lists above, or that may become obvious in writing the description, the analyst should identify exceptions to procedures or procedures steps. The analyst should then prepare a list of questions for the second round of interviews.

A few words about the analysis itself. The process of deciding how to divide the work of an office into functions, procedures, and so on, is a creative one. There are no rules that say if such and so occurs then it is a function, but if such and so else occurs then it is a procedure. If this were the case, then there would be little need for a human analyst. However, a thorough understanding of the model as presented in chapter 2, and familiarity with the examples that are given there should help the analyst to fit the data into an appropriate framework. In addition, the analyst should remember that there is no "right" analysis, but rather that the purpose of the analysis is to organize the workings of the office in a way that is simple and easily understood. The exact details of the analysis will depend to some extent on the context of the study, the goal of the study, and the context of the organization which is being studied. For example, as has been said before, the functions in the MIT Admissions

Office may be defined differently if one is looking at the office by itself or at all of MIT.

3.7.2 Other Analysis

In addition to understanding *what* is done in an office, the analyst should know *how much* of it is done, *why* it is done, what its relative *importance* is, and what *problems* are encountered in doing it. This section considers these remaining areas of analysis.

The two easiest items to analyze are the questions of how much and why. For each of these, the analyst must simply obtain the answers to the following questions:

- Why is this function performed? What would the results be if it were suddenly not performed?
- Why is this procedure performed? How often? How long does is take? How many of the objects, about which this procedure is concerned, are in process at any given time? Are there periods when this procedure is performed more often, or less often, than usual?
- Why is this procedure step performed? What would happen if it were not performed? How long does this step usually take in both actual and elapsed time? How often does something go wrong, that is, how often does an exception occur, in this step?
- Why does this object exist? What would happen if it were eliminated? How many of this object are there at a time? How long does this object usually "live"?
- Why does this database exist? What is it used for? How big is it? How often is it accessed? Does it change size over time? What kinds of items does it contain? Text, numbers, paper, etc? How is the information stored? Electronically, files, microfilm, etc?

These questions are tied to the office model that was developed in the first stage of the analysis. The analyst will probably not have all of this information after the first round of interviews, but, as always at this stage of the analysis, the purpose of this list is to point out areas where further information needs to be gathered. A few final words abut the importance of this material. Understanding why a thing is done will be vitally important in later stages of the automation process, if they come to pass, because nothing can be changed without understanding the implications of the change. Therefore, the "why" information must be gathered completely and thoroughly.

The remaining two areas for analysis are somewhat more difficult. To review, the importance of particular office activities or particular pieces of information must be understood for two reasons. First, without understanding what is important and what is not, changes could be made that would be disastrous. Second, if changes are to be made, then the best place to start will be in those key areas whose improvement will have the largest impact on the functioning of the office. This implies that one must know which areas have the most impact on overall office performance.

The next question that arises is how one determines the importance of various activities in the office. There are two answers to this questions. A function, procedure, or activity is important to the office if it is critical to the performance of the entire office. This idea derives from the concept of Critical Success Factors [50, 7] except that it is applied to the entire office, rather than to individuals. Some questions for the office manager which will elicit this information have been suggested in section 3.3.7. Additional questions for the office staff have been suggested in section 3.4.2. The analyst will have to sort through the responses to these questions, trying to determine what the success factors are for the office. These factors will qualify as areas of importance.

Another way of determining the importance of a function, procedure, or activity, is to look at its value to the organization. Various methods have been developed to do this, including Overhead Value Analysis [45]. These methods involve significant effort from a large portion of the organization, something which is outside of the scope of an OADM study. However, an attempt can be made to replicate OVA on a small scale. In the interviews with the people outside the office, as described in section 3.6, the analyst asks questions about the use of the products and/or services produced by the office. The responses to these questions can be used to estimate the relative values of the procedures, functions, and activities that produce these products and/or services.

The last step of the analysis process is to look for the problems which underlie the symptoms that have been observed. The symptom/problem model says that several symptoms can be the result of one problem, so that while each symptom will have a problem, there will be fewer problems than symptoms. The analysis consists of trying to determine the set of underlying problems. As with most analysis, this is essentially a creative process. The method to be used consists of asking *why* the symptoms occur. The method is iterative, in that once the

analyst knows why the symptom occurs, she should then ask "why" about the reason. The analyst will keep asking why until the answer becomes meaningless or unchangeable in the given context.

For example, the analyst might have found that certain forms are not being processed in a timely way. In the course of other interviews in the office, the analyst finds that this is because the person who is supposed to do it is never in the office. These symptoms would suggest that the analyst should ask why the person is never in the office. One answer might be that the person is having severe personal problems and has been working fairly short hours, with the knowledge of the office manager, until the crisis is over. This, then, would be the underlying cause, since asking about the person's personal problems is far outside the scope of the study. The changes that this problem might suggest could range from doing nothing because it is a temporary problem, to rearranging the work of some other people in the office so they can help with the backlog. Another reason for the person's absence could be that other parts of the person's job require the person's presence at other locations. The analyst could ask several questions here. Why does this other part of the job take so much time? Why is the person responsible for both these tasks? Has there always been a problem in this area or has something changed recently? If so, what? Eventually the analyst will reach a point where further questions are meaningless. The last reason reached will be the underlying problem.

The problem analysis process as outlined above cannot be performed completely at this stage of the study process. During the interviews, the analyst will have gathered information about symptoms from direct responses to questions, and from observation. The analyst should try to apply some common sense and her knowledge of the office to the symptoms to see whether she can think of any potential causes. Some of the answers may be obvious, and in many cases the interviewees will have given the reason. For some symptoms, however, the reason may not be at all obvious given the available information, so that at this stage it may not be possible to do much true analysis. The analyst can, nonetheless, think about who, in or out of the office, might know what is causing a particular symptom. The analyst should prepare a list of symptoms, people who can help with each symptom, and questions about each symptom, to be used in the second round of interviews. In addition, the analyst should prepare questions that will confirm or deny hypotheses the analyst has made about underlying problems. Throughout this stage of the analysis, the analyst should remember that the definition of problems will depend on the judgment of the analyst and of the office staff. Unlike a pure description, which makes no value judgments, this part of the process is normative. The available alternatives, the personalities of the people involved, and the corporate environment will all contribute to the definition of some things as symptoms or problems while others go unnoticed. In many organizations, the assumption is made that most, if not all, employees should have a telephone. Its presence is not likely to be questioned. One can imagine another environment where the telephone is not so prevalent and where many symptoms relate to its presence or absence.

3.8 The Draft Description

The draft description has two parts. The first is the description of how the office currently works and the second is a description of the problems encountered in the office. Both parts of the description have standardized formats which will be described below. If it is at all possible, the analyst should start writing the description as soon as she has finished the first two or three interviews with the office staff. Even if some of the material that is included in the early stages later turns out to be incorrect and must be changed, everything should be written down as soon as possible in order to avoid losing any information.

3.8.1 Current Procedures

The first chapter of the procedure description should have sections describing

- the mission of the office
- the organizational context of the office
- any special information about the overall physical environment of the office
- a brief overview of the major office functions

The purpose of this chapter is to summarize the background material that the reader will need to understand the function and procedure descriptions that follow. Most of the material for this chapter will come from the interview with the manager. The next chapter is optional. It will describe any information that applies to the entire office and that requires a longer description than is appropriate to the first chapter. If this chapter is included, the material in it should be necessary to the reader's understanding of what follows, but not familiar to the reader. For example, in the Student Loan Office, a description of the different types of student loans, their sources, and timing requirements, immensely aids the understanding of readers who are not familiar with student loans. The analyst should consider the expected audience of the description, and what that audience is likely to know or not know. For example, data processing specialists who might use the description may not be familiar with the nature of the business process. The types of information that have been found useful to include in this chapter are

- information about the primary object, if the object has aspects that are important but not obvious to the expected readers, as in the student loan case above.
- information about a piece of technology that is important to the current functioning of the office but which may not be familiar to the readers. For example, a large online database system. In this case the analyst would describe the database, the information in it, and the typical uses of the information, always giving examples. This would be a longer and much more detailed description of the database than would otherwise be included, and this extended description would be done only if the database was of central importance to the entire office.
- historical information about the office. If, for some reason, the history of the office has had a very large effect on the way that the office currently works, then information about that history should be provided for the reader in this chapter.

In summary, this chapter is optional, and, if included, contains information about the environment of the office that is vital to understanding how the office works.

The next several chapters are devoted to the office functions. Within the chapters are sections for each procedure. These sections may vary from being a single paragraph for a very short procedure, to containing several subsections describing variations of a long and complicated procedure. For each procedure, the analyst should be sure to include not only what is done, but why it is done, and figures as to how many, how much, how long, etc. The structure for a procedure should be something like the following

- description of the procedure in simple step/event/state terms,

- comment on why the procedure is performed,

- explanation of any major exceptions associated with the procedure.

These three parts of the procedure description should be made as obvious as possible. Since it can be difficult to write clearly and still include all the necessary information, the analyst include quantitative information and descriptions of exceptions in whatever way results in the best prose.

For the sake of generality, procedure descriptions should refer to people by some descriptive job title rather than by name. For example, the person who is responsible for most of the accounting functions in an office might be referred to as the Accountant. The same person may also act as a special assistant to the office manager. In a procedure where she is acting in that capacity, she might be referred to as the Manager's Assistant. This formality serves two purposes. It avoids confusion between people and the roles that they play in the office. Two people, who share a role may choose to divide the work in a certain way. That division is an artifact of the current implementation and might change if the role is changed. The other reason for using titles rather than names is that one title can refer to several people who all fill the same role.

The last chapter of the description discusses the exception handling techniques that apply to the entire office. This information will be obtained from the manager in the final interview.

The description will have appendices. There are a number of possible appendices and which ones are included will depend on the purpose of the study. Some suggested appendices are:

- A list of the major databases, logs, and lists in the office. Information about each including the general size and format, the current physical form, the type of information included, and the typical use.
- Copies of the principal forms used by the office. These are often useful for reference.
- A glossary. This is particularly important if the office uses a large number of terms whose meanings are not obvious to readers from outside the office. The glossary can define the terms, which can then be used throughout the description.
- A table matching titles with people. Who does what in a procedure is indicated by the use of job titles. If work in the office is to be reorganized, it will be important to know which titles belong to which people.

- Results of the quantitative questionnaire. Since it may be difficult or inappropriate to include much of this information in the text, it should be put into an appendix.
- Samples of the questionnaire and log which constitute the quantitative questionnaire.²⁰ These will provide a basis for comparison across studies. In addition, questions may arise later that can be answered by reference to the original questionnaire.

3.8.2 The Symptom List

The list of symptoms and causes within the office should be separate from the description of the current operations. The structure of the symptom list closely follows that of the description of current operations. The first chapter of the list should contain those items which apply to the entire office. The remaining chapters and sections should include only those symptoms and problems that apply to the function or procedure described in the equivalent chapters and sections of the current operations. A problem symptom should be listed for each procedure or function to which it applies. In addition to the symptoms and causes, answers to questions about what would happen if the function or procedure were to be eliminated or improved should be included in the appropriate chapters and sections.

3.9 The Quantitative Questionnaire

After enough analysis has been done to understand the basic structure of the office, the analyst should prepare and administer a quantitative questionnaire. The purpose of this questionnaire is to obtain the figures that will be necessary for cost justification of any changes to the office. In addition, answers to some of the questions may point out areas of the office which require further investigation.

The quantitative questionnaire has two parts, the questionnaire and the log. The questionnaire collects data about activities such as mail handling, typing, file storage, etc., and relies on self-reporting. The log collects data about the actual number of objects that are

²⁰The questionnaire and log are described in 3.9.

handled for each step of a procedure during a specified time period.

3.9.1 Questionnaire Preparation

The analyst will prepare the questionnaire by reviewing the list of possible questions and ideas contained in Appendix C. Keeping in mind any expected changes that may follow the study, the analyst should select those questions that are applicable to the office being studied. Since the more specific the question, the more useful the answer, the analyst should rewrite the questions to make them as specific to the office as possible. For example, a question which asks generally about the use of databases might be rewritten to ask about each major database in the office. In addition, all questions should be asked within the context of a procedure. Some questions, such as those that ask about specific documents, are already in this form. Other, more general questions, such as those about communication, should be asked once for each procedure. The list of questions in Appendix C is intended to provide a starting point for the analyst, but it is by no means complete since it is impossible to anticipate every circumstance. Questions have been included which will provide quantitative data for the most common types of cost justification but if there are other useful quantitative measures for this office, appropriate questions should be included.

Since certain types of questions will be appropriate for only some of the office personnel, the analyst may choose to prepare several questionnaires. The most common division is to have one questionnaire for professionals and managers and another questionnaire for secretaries and clerks. However, there may be other groups in the office for whom a separate questionnaire would be appropriate.

When the questionnaire has been prepared, the analyst may want to test it on a few of the office personnel to be sure that the questions are easy to understand and unambiguous. After any final changes have been made, the questionnaire should be administered to the entire office staff, including the office manager.

3.9.2 Log Preparation

While preparing the questionnaire, the analyst should also be working on the log forms. These forms can be designed to obtain several kinds of data and the analyst's first step will be to decide what information to collect. The log can record the number of occurances of events within a procedure, thereby recording the number of objects that entered a specific step within some time period. Alternatively, the log can follow particular objects through an entire procedure, showing the elapsed time at each stage of processing. A third type of log collects information about exceptions, including what they are and, by looking for patterns, their frequencies. The analyst should try to collect as much data as possible, but it may not always be possible to use all of the logs. The analyst should have some rough data from the initial interviews about approximately how long it takes for an object to go through a procedure and about approximately how many objects are in process at once. If an object takes many months to go through an entire procedure, then following individual objects may take too long. One alternative is to look at parts of the procedure. Another alternative is to not gather this information.

General outlines for the log forms, filled in with examples, can be found in Appendix C. The analyst should already have analyzed the structure of the office procedures with steps, events, and states as described in 2.1 and 4.7. Preparing the log forms is simply a matter of putting that structure into the correct headings on the page, making at least one log for each procedure. The analyst will also need to identify the appropriate people to keep the logs. These should be people who participated in the first round of interviews and should be the people who are performing the procedures. When the logs have been prepared, the analyst should give each log to the appropriate person with instructions about how to keep it. The time period for the log will depend on the office, but will probably be at least a week. The time should be chosen to be as typical as possible, not a holiday, for example. In addition, the analyst should try to arrange to have the logs kept between the rounds of interviews so that the results of the logs will be available for analysis before the second round of interviews. This way, if something unexpected appears on the logs, the analyst will have a chance to ask about it.

3.9.3 Analysis of Results

Since the results of the questionnaire and the log are intended primarily to help with the cost justification process, there is relatively little analysis to be done. Where it is meaningful, the analyst may want to aggregate responses for the entire office. In particular, the results obtained from the logs may need to be put together to give an overall picture of the office.

The answers to the questionnaire and the data obtained from the logs should be incorporated into the description of current operations where they apply. However, having a coherent description is more useful than having a description that consists mostly of numbers, so any data that cannot be easily incorporated into the description itself should be presented in an appendix. In addition, for future comparison of studies of many offices, the questionnaires themselves should be put into another appendix.

Although it is not the main purpose of the questionnaire or log, their results can be analyzed in another way. The analyst should go through the responses looking for anything that is unexpected. For example, several people might respond that they use a certain piece of equipment that the analyst was not even aware existed in the office. When the analyst finds an unexpected result, she should make a point of asking about it in the second round of interviews. Another form of unexpected result might be to find that people say they are doing more of some activity than the analyst had expected. The analyst should try to determine whether the people really are spending large amounts of time on the activity and if so, why. Some of these results will simply point out holes in the analyst's understanding of the office while others may be, or suggest, problem symptoms. Where the results from the questionnaire and log do suggest symptoms, these symptoms should be included in the symptom list.

Finally, one other form of analysis that the analyst should apply to the questionnaire and log results is figuring out why the responses are as they are. For all of the responses, the analyst should be sure that she understands why. For example, the analyst should know why incoming mail and phone calls are handled as they are. Is it because that is how it has always been done? Is it because of a lack of personnel? Is it because the secretary provides certain necessary information? Because the person handles a large amount of confidential material? And so forth. The analyst should include this information in the appendix that contains the questionnaire and log results.

3.10 Iterate the Interview Process

The next step of the methodology is to circulate the written description of current operations back to the people who were interviewed. The analyst should give the interviewees time to read the description before making appointments to see the interviewees for a second time. Some of the interviewees may not need a second interview if the analyst is confidant that she has obtained all of the necessary data and if, after reading the draft, the interviewee agrees that she has no more to add. However, most of the people will have to be interviewed twice. The second round of interviews provides opportunities for the analyst to fill in holes in her data and for the interviewees to give feedback on the data that have been gathered so far.

The format of the second interview is very much like the first. The analyst should ask the interviewee for general comments first, before going over the specific comments. Once all of the interviewees comments have been discussed, the analyst should proceed to ask the questions that she has prepared. These will usually include questions to gather information that may be missing about procedures, about how exceptions are handled in the procedure, and about what is causing symptoms. The analyst should always ask if the interviewee has remembered any additional details and should conclude the interview by asking if the interviewee would like to see the description again after the changes discussed in this interview have been made.

The interviews in the second round should generally be shorter than those of the first round. In a few cases, where the detail was simply too much for the first interview, the second interview may take a long time and the analyst may even have to go back for a third interview. But on the whole, the second interview should be enough to take care of the loose ends.

3.11 Final Review

When the final version of the draft documents is complete, the analyst should send them to the office manager. After the manager has had time to read them, the analyst should make an appointment. There are several purposes for this interview. The first is to present the results of the study of current operations and to ask the manager about general exception handling for the office. The analyst should ask about what happens when general disasters strike the office.²¹ The analyst should also ask about what operational exceptions are brought to the manager, what she usually does about them, and whether there are any types of exceptions that she must refer to her boss. This part of the interview should not take long, since major exceptions usually come to mind quickly.

The second purpose of the interview is to be sure that the described intentions behind procedures are correct. It will sometimes happen that the office personnel will give a reason that is incorrect or out of date. In addition, if no satisfactory reasons can be given as to why a particular procedure is performed, the manager is the person to ask. The office manager is the final source of answers and authority about these questions.

The third purpose for the interview is to go over the problems/opportunities list. The manager may be able to give additional information that will explain the cause behind some of the unresolved symptoms. The manager may also be able to point out certain opportunities that the analyst has missed. However, the primary reason for going over this list is to see if the manager agrees with it, and to see if any steps have already been taken to correct some of the problems.

The final purpose for the interview is to discuss what the next steps will be. At this point, the usual next step is for the analyst, or someone on the analysis team who has knowledge of the current technology, to propose some possible technological alternatives to those problems for which they are appropriate. The analyst should discuss with the manager the nature of the rough proposal and which of the problems it should start to address. If the analyst can get an idea from the manager about the resources that can be devoted to the process, that will also help to constrain the choices of technology. In any case, the analyst should agree with the manager as to what the next step of the process will be.

²¹What happens when several people at once call in sick? What happens when the computer system on which the office depends goes down? And so on.

3.12 Additional Comments

This section is devoted to the discussion of a variety of largely unrelated topics that did not seem to fit in easily elsewhere.

3.12.1 Continuing the process

The preparation of the OADM descriptions does not complete the automation process. The remaining steps include

- system design
- cost justification
- system selection
- development of an implementation strategy
- user training
- actual change to the new system
- development of procedures for modifying the system as necessary

OADM provides help for the first two steps, but does not address any of the others. One way to do system design is to collect a group of appropriate people and have a brain storming session. The people for such a group might include the office manager, the analyst, some representatives of the office staff, and appropriate technology experts, all of whom would be familiar with the office descriptions. Since system design is often influenced by external factors, system selection may go on in parallel. Once a system has been designed and/or chosen, it usually must be cost justified. OADM provides most of the quantitative information about the office that is required for this process. This information, combined with information about the proposed system and its impacts, can be used to determine whether or not the system can be justified. The system design, system selection, and cost justification processes are often iterative as various choices are evaluated, and often overlap.

3.12.2 More on questionnaires

Two kinds of guestionnaires have already been discussed as part of the study process, a background guestionnaire and a quantitative guestionnaire. While these two guestionnaires should be part of every study, there are other types of questionnaires that may be useful in special circumstances. One such questionnaire would be used to verify that parallel parts of an organization have similar structure. This guestionnaire is constructed after an office had been studied. It is essentially a condensation of the description of current work, perhaps presented as a flow chart. The respondents would be asked to indicate areas where their work differs significantly from the structure that is presented. This questionnaire would be used to verify that several offices that are thought to be organized similarly, in fact, are. For example, if a company wanted to study all of its regional sales offices, a detailed study might be done of one. A questionnaire or form showing the structure of that office could be circulated, with appropriate instructions, to the other offices, to see if they are indeed similar. One would expect to see some differences, but the basic structure might be very much the same. If it is, then use of the quantitative questionnaire should provide sufficient information for further action without having to study the office in detail. If the office shows large areas of difference, then a study may have to be performed.

A similar type of questionnaire employs the same idea to be sure that many people with parallel jobs, for example accountant executives whose responsibilities are divided by area, actually perform them in much the same way. The analyst might interview a few of these people. If the analyst suspects that what the others do is not equivalent, but does not have the time or resources to interview all of the people, the analyst might prepare a questionnaire. This questionnaire would be based on the structure of work that the analyst had observed and the results would show whether the other people use that same structure. This type of questionnaire can also be used even if differences are not suspected to verify absolutely that there are no major differences. The overhead involved, however, is such that before this questionnaire is used there should be a good reason for needing the verification.

Another type of questionnaire that can be used in conjunction with an OADM study is one that is designed to help the analyst understand the social organization of the office. This is an area that is not emphasized in OADM, but that is nonetheless important in the process of planned change. The personnel departments in most organizations are knowledgable in this area and their expertise can be employed in trying to understand how various possible changes in the office will effect the office atmosphere and the attitudes of the office personnel.

If the analysis of symptoms, problems, and the quantitative questionnaire so warrants, the analyst may also want to devise further quantitative questionnaires or log forms. For example, if there is a problem with the use of a particular database, the analyst may want to create a questionnaire to find out more about the database and a log to find out about its actual usage. The objective would be to obtain much more detailed information than would be available from the quantitative questionnaire. This information would depend on the nature of the problem, but might include details of the organization of the database and patterns of use.

3.12.3 Large organizations

There are several approaches that can be taken to studying a large organization with OADM. It is important to remember, however, that OADM is not designed to give a guick overview of a large organization. There are other types of methodologies that can do this much more quickly and easily than OADM. The occasion does arise, though, when the detailed functioning of an organization larger than a single office must be understood. Depending on the time constraints, this problem can be dealt with in one of two ways. The first way is to study each of the parts sequentially. This approach is best when there are limited resources for doing the analyses, and when elapsed time is not a major factor. Each office, or other appropriately sized piece of the organization, is studied separately by a small group of analysts. The analysts produce descriptions of the individual offices. At the end, a document may be produced which describes the entire organization, showing how the functions fit together, how the organization communicates with other organizations, and so on. Once the organization is completely understood, along with its overall goals and consistent problems, large and small systems can be specified which take advantage of the economies present in combining the work of several offices. One serious problem with this approach is that if the studies take a significant amount of time to complete, the details of the offices studied at the beginning of the process are likely to have changed by the end. If the process takes too long, and the organization changes quickly, the entire study can become out of date before it is even completed.

The second approach to studying entire organizations is to do many studies in parallel. This approach is appropriate if there are sufficient resources to do all of the studies at once and if the time constraints are short. In this approach, the organization is divided into pieces of a reasonable size for one person to study. This implies a need for a large number of analysts. OADM can meet this need, however, since it is designed to be easy to learn. If a sufficient number of untrained people, who have the right personal characteristics, can be found, they can be taught to use OADM. They can then study the offices in parallel, with the available trained personnel being used to monitor their progress and to help with any problems that may arise. Since the process of doing an OADM study has several easily definable stages, the task of monitoring the analysts can be made manageable. By making use of meetings after each stage to discuss what has been accomplished and what will be done next, the people who monitor the analysts can be sure that everyone is progressing as planned. These meetings can also be used to continue the education of the analysts. When the studies are complete, the analysts can meet to look for integration possibilities. Throughout the remaining stages of the automation process the analysts can serve as resources for information about their offices. The major problem with this approach is that the analysts who are doing the studies will only be doing one study. This means that the motivation for learning OADM and completing the study is quite different from that of an analyst who will be using OADM over and over again as one of a set of tools.

3.12.4 The use of forms

While the use of questionnaires, or forms, to be filled out by the office staff, has already been discussed, the use of forms to aid the analyst has not. Most of the forms that have been developed so far are intended to aid the analyst during and after the interview. There are two kinds of forms. Those that are actually used during the interview, and those that are used to help with the analysis process. The interview forms are really checklists that remind the analyst of all the things to ask during an interview. These forms can be tailored to a specific organization. Sample checklists appear in Appendix A.

The second type of form, found in appendix B, is used by the analyst to aid in the analysis process. These forms provide a place for the analyst to record information about functions, procedures, objects, exceptions, databases, and so forth. The analyst can use these forms as worksheets to aid in thinking about the structure of the office. The forms can also be used to

provide a record of what was learned from each person who was interviewed. If several analysts are working on the same office, or if a study is interrupted, to be started again at some later time, such documentation can be extremely valuable.

.

.

Chapter Four

Evaluation

Anyone can propose and develop a methodology, but is the methodology good for some purpose? This chapter will attempt to answer that question as it applies to OAM and OADM.

The designers of OAM proposed that it could be useful for several purposes. OAM could be used as a tool for:

- 1. Teaching analysis techniques to new analysts
- 2. Gathering the information required to decide whether or not to automate an office
- 3. Gathering the information required to rationalize or reorganize office work.
- 4. Gathering the information required to design an automated system
- 5. Writing an office procedure manual
- 6. Collecting a library of consistent case studies for use by system designers

Since OADM is largely a superset of OAM, all of these purposes apply to OADM as well. The major difference between OAM and OADM is that OADM serves these purposes more completely than OAM. The following chapter will examine how useful OAM and OADM are for each of these purposes. For clarity, OAM will be discussed first, followed by a discussion of how the new material in OADM changes the conclusions reached about OAM.

4.1 Basis for Evaluation

There are several ways of evaluating how a methodology meets its objectives. The first is to look at the methodology to determine which pieces clearly apply to each objective. Based on the internal evidence of support within the methodology for each objective, a conclusion can be reached. Another way to evaluate a methodology is to use it, then examine the results, in as many ways as possible, to try to determine whether or not the methodology was

successful.²² Both of these methods will be used in evaluating OAM and OADM.

4.1.1 OAM

Evaluation of OAM and its objectives began in 1980 with a course. A number of companies were invited to send people to a free, 3-day course teaching OAM and the Office Specification Language (OSL). The primary purpose of this course was to persuade people to use and provide feedback on OSL. OAM was taught as a data gathering tool and supplement to OSL. Instruction in OAM consisted of two lectures, totalling about 4 hours, and a 3-hour workshop. The rest of the course was devoted to OSL and background information. However, the office model that is central to OAM is the same as the model used by OSL, so much of the course covered material necessary for OAM. The course was taught twice,²³ to people from 7 companies and from 5 different parts of MIT. The course was designed to encourage people who attended to get started doing studies using OAM and OSL.²⁴ Much, although not all, of the evidence for how well OAM serves the suggested purposes, was obtained from the results of this course.

True evaluation of OAM's usefulness as a tool for deciding whether to automate, requires that a number of studies be performed which result in such a decision. Evaluation of OAM as a tool for reorganizing office work and for system design require that changes occur as a result of the studies. All of this requires time. After nearly two years, enough time has passed and the results of using OAM should be clear. From following the results of using OSL, it was known which organizations had actually performed studies. Telephone interviews were done with people from these organizations about their experiences with using OAM and to find out whether the studies had been followed by any changes.

Of the seven companies that participated in the OAM/OSL courses, four actually did office studies. These companies were an insurance company ("A"), a research laboratory ("B"), a consumer products company ("C"), and a chemical company ("D"). Company "A"'s studies

²²For OAM and OADM, there are two stages of the automation process at which one can look for results: after the study has been performed, and after the implementation of any suggested changes has been completed.

²³In November, 1980 and January, 1981

²⁴For results of the course with regard to OSL see [32].

were not available for further inquiry. An employee from company "B" studied a graduate school admissions office and a volunteer organization's membership management unit. Companies "C" and "D" performed studies in their engineering divisions.

The analysts²⁵ who performed the studies were all interviewed. Additional feedback was obtained from managers who were associated with a number of the studies. Each of the analysts was asked the following questions:

- Did you find OAM useful? Would you use it again?
- Which ideas from OAM do you consider the most important?
- What would you change about OAM? What would you like to see added?
- After your trial of OSL/OAM, was the office that you studied automated? Why or why not?
- If so, did the OAM description or study influence the results? In your opinion, was the influence positive or negative?
- Have you, or other people in your organization familiar with OAM, used it for other projects? If so, what kinds of projects?
- Do you, or other people in your organization familiar with OAM, use ideas from OAM in doing studies? If so, which ideas?

The results of the studies show that OAM is useful for several purposes. Each study will be discussed under the purpose which it best illustrates. The analysts' general comments will also be included in the discussion of the purpose to which they best apply. A few comments and study results do not fit any one purpose. These have been included in 4.8 as general discussion.

4.1.2 OADM

Evaluation of OADM is based on five studies performed at a major Central American bank.²⁶

²⁵The term "analysts" is used to refer to the people who actually did the study and does not imply that these people had any training prior to the OAM/OSL course.

²⁶Prior to this experience, one study was begun in the MIT Laboratory for Computer Science administrative offices. This study was not completed, however, due to a sudden turnover of personnel in the office.

At the time that the opportunity arose to test OADM at the bank, the bank was undertaking a massive automation effort and intended to use OADM to study several offices, perhaps as many as ten or twelve. This site was not ideal since bank personnel would have to be taught the methodology through a language barrier, but it was the best available due to the number of studies to be produced. A course was prepared, based on the then current state of OADM, and was taught to the bank personnel. Although the people who attended the course were supposed to have performed the studies, even the best laid plans fail. It turned out that the people who attended the course then taught the material to another group of people, summer students, who then actually performed the studies. This double transmission, along with the problems of translation from English to Spanish, makes it difficult to know how much of the material was successfully transmitted.

As part of a related effort, the bank had undertaken a study to determine the central facilities needs of approximately 40 offices, including those that were to participate in the OADM studies. The data for this study were gathered through questionnaires and followup interviews. Knowing that OADM studies would follow, the facilities questionnaire was designed to include some of the questions that would be asked on the quantitative questionnaire. This provided a test for the use of the quantitative questionnaire, but the test was not ideal since the facilities questionnaire was primarily designed for another purpose. In addition, the questionnaire preceded the OADM studies and so could not make use of knowledge about the structure of the office.

The first study to be completed was translated into English for comments. It was critiqued and returned to the bank. This feedback provided a chance to correct some of the material that had been lost in transmission. In the end, the results from five studies were made available in English. The results of these studies provide the basis for evaluation of OADM. Since OADM continued to develop after the bank studies were underway, a certain amount of what was learned from these studies simply confirmed that previous directions of development had been incorrect.²⁷ Most of the results, however, were inconclusive, due to the language barrier.

²⁷For example, in teaching the OADM course, it had become apparent that thinking of OADM as having several parts, OAM, success factors, symptoms and problems, and questionnaires, was misleading. The results of the studies showed this confusion. The various parts of OADM have since been integrated.

The external basis for evaluating OADM is limited by the fact that it is new. Not enough time has passed for the completion of any automation efforts that may follow OADM studies. In addition, since OADM is so new, relatively few OADM studies have been performed. However, sufficient experience has developed to allow evaluation of OADM as a teaching tool and to allow partial evaluation in other areas as well. The basis for internal evaluation, that is, the evidence presented by the methodology itself, has been available since the methodology was developed.

4.2 Teaching Tools

The original designers of OAM realized that new analysts often learn through a process of trial and error so that training a good office analyst can take time and may involve mistakes. If OAM is teachable and learnable, and can provide the analyst with a series of useful skills and tools, then the learning time, and the number of false steps along the way will be reduced. The questions thus arise, is OAM teachable and learnable? Does OAM provide the analyst with useful skills and tools? The first of these questions can be answered by attempting to teach OAM to a variety of people. The answer to the second question will depend on how useful OAM is for other purposes.

The OAM/OSL course taught OAM to a fairly large number of people and provided a chance to evaluate how easy or difficult OAM is teach and learn. At the end of the course, the attendees filled out questionnaires about course material and presentation. Although most of the questions were about the OSL part of the course, some questions did ask about OAM. These questions, and the answers where they could be summarized, included:²⁸

- On a scale of 1 (poor) to 5 (excellent), indicate how much you feel you learned from the OAM lectures. (Avg. 3.5) The quality of the presentation. (Avg. 4.1) The effectiveness with which the material was presented.
- On a scale of 1 (poor) to 5 (excellent), indicate how much you feel you learned from the OAM workshop. (Avg. 3.3) The quality of the presentation. (Avg. 3.7) The effectiveness with which the material was presented.

²⁸The questions presented have been slightly reworded to accommodate the change of format.

- Please rate the pace of the OAM lecture on a scale of 1 (poor) to 5 (excellent). (Avg. 2.8)
- Please comment on the appropriateness of the time allowed to the OAM lecture. (more-2, less-7, OK-16) To the OAM workshop. (more-0, less-7, OK-14, other-4)
- How well do you think you understand the following aspects of OAM (answer on a scale of 1 (not at all) to 5 (very well)):
 - * Organizing a study (Avg. 4.1)
 - * Interview techniques (Avg. 4.2)
 - * Writeup format (Avg. 3.7)
- Do you feel ready to start using OAM? (yes-22, no-0, mixed-3)
- What do you feel are the most and least important aspects of OAM?
- Would you recommend that others in your organization learn OAM? (yes-17, no-0, mixed-5, no answer-3) Why or why not?

Those questions that relate to the presentation of the OAM material can be used to judge how easy OAM is to teach. The course was one of the first presentations of this material. The lecture was carefully prepared but had not been polished. If the questionnaire respondents felt that the material was well presented, this would be a strong indication that OAM is easy to teach. The questions about comprehension of OAM can be used to determine how easy OAM is to learn. A few of the OSL questions which ask about basic concepts used in OAM must also be included in this assessment. The most relevant OSL question was one which asked respondents how well they felt they understood various OSL concepts including functions, procedures, focal objects, events, steps, states, and exceptions.

The responses to questions about presentation depended on the background of the respondent. Those who had experience in studying offices felt that the lecture was too slow and that the material could have been covered in much less time. This result is not surprising since the lecture was designed to teach people who had little experience studying offices. Those people with little experience considered the lecture to be adequate in length and pace.²⁹ Most people said that the workshop was of little use, but a few found it valuable for

²⁹This should not be taken to mean that OAM can be taught in 5 hours. The presentation of the office model is not included in this figure.

discussing problems that might be encountered in starting a study. The variation of responses could be due to variation in workshop leaders, but if the attendees were able to understand the material without the workshop, its failure may not be significant. These results indicate that OAM is easy to teach.

The responses to the comprehension questions showed that people had understood the OAM material and felt comfortable with it. Those people who had experience in studying offices considered most of the material to be common sense and thought that too much time was spent on it. Those who did not have experience felt that OAM was very informative and easy to learn. Everyone felt ready to use OAM and would recommend that others in their organizations learn it. Most of the people felt that they understood the OSL concepts. In addition, the instructors felt, based on the questions during the lecture and the responses in the workshop, that OAM had been well understood. Every result shows that OAM is easy to learn.

One other, smaller, experiment confirms this conclusion. The original OAM paper [57], at various points in its development, was given to a new graduate student and to a secretary, with instructions to do a study. In each case, the person was able to perform a complete study³⁰ with only a little guidance from more experienced people.

All of the arguments for the usefulness of a teachable and learnable methodology apply equally well to OADM. If OADM can be easily taught and learned, it can be useful tool for training office analysts. OADM has been taught to the bank personnel of the site where it was tested and the results of this experience, given the language problems and double transmission, provide an excellent test. No questionnaires were distributed after the course, but the results of the studies show how well, or poorly, analysts absorbed the material.

The results have been generally positive. The written descriptions seem to provide an adequate picture of the office procedures and the descriptions of the problems and opportunities within the offices certainly make points that were not obvious from the procedure description. However, the descriptions were lacking in several areas. They did not provide enough numbers for the reader to easily appreciate the relative scales of the activities

³⁰For one of these see [62]. The final description of the other is not available.

and problems. They also did not provide adequate information about either the factors that are critical to the success of the offices, or the relative importance of the procedures and activities. The descriptions did provide some information about why the procedures and activities were performed, but this information was not complete. In other words, while the analyst did not understand some of the material, most of OADM survived the various teaching barriers.

4.3 The Automation Decision

Another possible use for OAM and OADM is as tools for gathering the data needed to decide whether or not an office should make use of new technologies. This decision requires several kinds of information, including information about: the current operating procedures of the office, the available technology and the usual results of its application, the problems with current operations or areas for improvement, the relative importance of office activities, and the quantitative figures necessary for cost justification. Neither OAM nor OADM addresses the issue of current technology. OAM provides information about the current operations of the office, but does not address the other types of information necessary to making the decision. OADM does collect the additional information and so should be a better tool for deciding whether or not to automate an office.

Despite the fact that OAM does not seem to provide sufficient information to make the automation decision, experience has shown that, at least in some cases, automation decisions have indeed been made on the basis of OAM studies. Perhaps the best example is that of a study by an employee of company "B" of a graduate school of management. The school of management study was undertaken to determine whether or not it should make use of computer technology. The conclusion reached by the analyst and the Dean of the school was that while there were some functions that could be automated, there were not any affordable and available hardware and software packages that would meet the school's current needs. In other words, automation could not be cost justified at the time. The analyst felt that OAM was extremely useful in this process, and, apparently, in this case it did provide enough information to make the decision.

Another example arose in company "D". Company "D" did several pilot studies using OAM.

The intention of these studies was not to automate the offices, but simply to try the methodology and specification language and to have some analysts gain experience in using it. One of the studies, however, caused the office in question to decide to automate. Apparently, the OAM study did not provide enough information to decide exactly what should be automated, but it did provide enough for everyone involved to realize that automation would be helpful. Additional data collection efforts were necessary before automation could really begin. The analyst concluded, however, that the written description was useful throughout the automation process, since it provided a common reference that could be used as a tool for discussion.

While OAM provides information about the current operations of an office, which sometimes clearly shows the need for automation, it does not provide any of the other information that is usually required for this decision. OADM is designed to better meet this purpose. In order to decide whether or not to automate an office, one usually needs to know how much it will cost and what the benefits will be. Through use of the quantitative questionnaire OADM collects most, if not all, of the data that are required for cost justification. Another part of the decision requires determining whether or not there are problems in the office that could be solved with automation. The most obvious problems will show in an OAM description, but other problems will not be apparent. OADM makes the identification of problems and opportunities explicit.

4.4 Re-organizing Office Work

The introduction of new technology is not the only change that can be made in an office. Many times, the most effective changes result from reorganization or rationalization of the way work is performed. One possible use of OAM and OADM would be to provide the information about current procedures and their problems that is necessary to begin this process. Both OAM and OADM provide descriptions of the current operations. OADM provides more detail, in certain important areas,³¹ about current operations than OAM, as well as providing a list of problems and their causes.

³¹For example, OAM makes a point of never describing who does what. Rather, the description simply says what is done. If the description must mention a person, the reference is always to a role or title, not to a particular person. No mapping is given from title to office personnel. OADM also explicitly suggests the use of roles or titles, but it includes an appendix for listing who fills what role. The information is necessary if work is to be redistributed.

One particularly clear example of the usefulness of OAM in work reorganization comes from company "C". One office that was studied in the engineering department found that the process of doing the study showed that many of the procedures were unnecessarily cumbersome. The difficulty encountered by the analyst in understanding the procedures and the complexity of the description clearly illustrated their awkwardness. Changes were implemented over a period of time, ranging from the immediate introduction of a standardized travel arrangements request form to the eventual centralization of most files.

The previous example appears to be a somewhat extreme case in that the problems with current procedures were immediately obvious from the description. Most OAM studies give no indication as to what problems there might be with the organization of work in the office. The designers of OAM assumed that if enough information were supplied about office operations, then ways of improving the operations could be deduced. Experience has shown that this is extremely difficult. OADM addresses this problem by explicitly collecting information about problems and opportunity for change, taking advantage of the office staff's knowledge of the work. OADM also supplies additional information, such as lists of who does what, that will be useful in the process of changing procedures. Thus, while OADM still does not tell the analyst exactly how to go about redesigning office procedures, it does provide more of the information necessary to do so.

Even if OAM and OADM do not tell the analyst or office manager exactly how to reorganize, they do provide a starting point for the process. Additional evidence for this comes from the people who took the OAM/OSL course. All of the people who produced English office descriptions,³² commented that the descriptions were particularly useful as a starting point for discussions with office personnel about how work could be changed and automation could be introduced. One analyst commented that much of the work performed by engineers could have been done by secretaries but that it was not until the work, and whether secretaries or engineers were doing it, was put onto paper that everyone agreed that this was so.

There are several methodologies that have been developed to help with procedure redesign. One such methodology is described by Main [38]. It suggests ways of representing

81

³²Some wrote descriptions only in OSL.

procedures steps³³ in a flow chart and methods for improving work flow. Another theory that has been proposed for rationalizing office work represents office work in terms of networks and from this looks for improvements. [12, 11]

4.5 System Design

System design is an important step in the automation process and one possible use for OAM and OADM would be as a tool to help in this area. OAM and OADM were never designed to be system design methodologies, that is, they were never intended to tell the analyst exactly how to go about designing a system for a particular office. OAM and OADM could, however, provide the information needed by the system designer including information about what problems the system needs to address, thus often implying what technologies to use, how large various pieces of the system need to be, and what peculiarities of the office the system must accommodate. OAM was designed to be the first step in the process of system design, providing the information about current operations that the system designer would need in the early stages of the process. From the information provided by OAM, the system designer would be able to determine what technologies might be applicable in the office, but would not have enough information to make even a rough system design. OADM goes further in providing most of the information, including what problems to address and figures for scaling and cost justification, that a system designer will need to make a rough system design.

In looking at how useful OAM and OADM are for system design there are really two questions. The first is, do OAM and OADM provide the information required for system design? That is, do OAM and OADM make the system design process easier? The second question is whether information provided by OAM and OADM improves or otherwise changes the resulting system design. One is a question about process, the other about results. Unfortunately, OADM is too recent to have resulted in any system designs. Examination of several offices that have done system design after an OAM study should help to answer these questions.

An early version of OAM was used to study the Industrial Liaison Office (ILO) at MIT.

³³These are not procedure steps as defined in the office model used by OAM and OADM, but the technique should work, perhaps with better results, for procedures and steps as defined by the functional model.

Although the study was undertaken for research purposes, after the study was completed, a decision was made to automate the office. The OAM study appears to have had little influence on this decision, but once the decision was made, the description of the ILO produced by the study was very useful. The description was included in the request for proposal that was sent to office systems equipment vendors, who found it helpful in trying to tailor a system to the office. The ILO staff found the description useful since it provided a common point of agreement from which discussions of change could proceed.

Company "C" was in the process of introducing automation equipment into its engineering division. The standard approach was to do simple automation of the current operations without doing a functional analysis or looking for other than the most obvious improvements. One office was studied using OAM.³⁴ According to the office manager, the study permitted the office to look at itself to see areas that needed improvement and provided enough information to indicate that the office should make changes to the standard system that would otherwise have been installed.

The second study by the employee of company "B", of a volunteer organization's membership unit, identified several areas where automation would be useful, but, due to budgetary and organizational restrictions, no changes were implemented. The analyst felt that the study provided enough information to make decisions about what should and could be changed. That nothing resulted from the study was apparently due to outside circumstance and was not a response to the study. When, sometime after the study, the national headquarters of the organization suggested that the local groups purchase a particular system, the analyst was able to refer back to the original OAM study to determine that the proposed system would not meet the needs of the local group.

These experiences seems to indicate that OAM is useful in the process of system design, if only in the initial stages. Although OADM is too new for any system designs to have followed studies, the additional information that it collects suggests that it will be even more useful than OAM, although it, too, does not provide a method for doing system design. The next question to ask is whether OAM and OADM have a positive effect on the outcome of the final system. The results of automation efforts that followed OAM studies can be examined to help answer

³⁴This office is the same the one from company "C" described in section 4.4.

this question.

In the engineering division of company "C", the standard automation effort included the introduction of word processing equipment. As a result of the OAM study several changes were made. Dictation equipment was purchased and personnel were trained to use it shortly after the study was completed. While this is not an example of functional automation, it does illustrate that OAM can suggest the need for new technologies. Another change that was considered involved the use of microfilm to store old files. A decision was made not to use this technology, but rather to institute a system of dating files and periodically expunging outdated ones.

Since the automation effort at company "D",³⁵ was prompted by the OAM study, and since there were no other simultaneous efforts that did not use OAM, no objective measures are available. However, the analyst did feel strongly that the results of the automation effort were different because of the study. In particular, the analyst felt that it was only by automating the office in a functional way that the automation could be cost justified.

4.6 Procedure Manuals

Since the description that results from OAM or OADM completely describes the current operations of an office, one possible use for the description would be as a procedure manual for existing staff members and as a training tool for new ones. From this point of view, OAM and OADM become methodologies for developing procedure manuals. The only information required for this purpose that might be missing from missing from an OAM description would be the reasons why procedures are performed. OADM does include this information. OADM also includes a lot of information that is not necessary for this purpose, including numbers that are intended for cost justification of automated systems.

Where OAM studies have resulted in automation or change, they cannot be used as procedure manuals. However, a few cases have arisen where OAM descriptions have been used for this purpose.

³⁵This study is described more completely in section 5.3.

The employee of company "B" has gone on to use a slightly modified version of OAM/OSL in studying military command and control operations. One study has been completed in this area. The description, in a modified OSL format, of how the operation works has been extremely valuable. The military personnel have found it useful since it provides a common set of well-defined terms that they can use in their every day work. The military command like it because reading it has ensured that all of the staff are working from the same model, so that different people will have similar reactions to the same situation. The military training institutions find the description valuable since they can use it as a training manual for new personnel. Two different training institutions now use the description in this manner.

In the office of company "C", where so many other changes took place, the description that resulted from the OAM study was used as a training manual for some time after the study. The office has a high turnover and the office manager found the description particularly useful in explaining to new personnel what the office did. Unfortunately, as more and more changes accumulated, the description became less and less useful until it was finally abandoned altogether.

4.7 Case Studies

The last of the possible uses for OAM and OADM would be to help achieve "the improvement in our understanding of office work that will derive from a growing base of comparable studies in a standard format." [57] Presumably, that improvement in understanding could result in the development of better automated tools for the office, as well as improvements in methodologies for studying offices. OAM and OADM both provide a standard format for office descriptions. Unfortunately that is not all that is required for this purpose. A large number of studies, of a variety of different kinds of offices, must accumulate before interesting comparisons can be made. A number of studies have been performed at MIT since OAM was developed, [29, 51, 62, 63, 69, 68] but the sample is still small and the environment is not sufficiently varied. One of the purposes of teaching the OAM/OSL course was to start to gather additional studies, but, unfortunately, only a few studies resulted from the course. The potential stills exists, however, for interesting comparisons if enough studies do accumulate.

4.8 General Comments

In an attempt to achieve an overall assessment of OAM, analysts were asked in the telephone interviews what they liked best about OAM, what they like least, and whether they would use OAM again.

The most common criticism of OAM was the lack of quantitative data. This was almost always mentioned in conjunction with a comment about the lack of a questionnaire. Many of the people seemed to feel that the study should gather more quantitative data, and questionnaires were often suggested as a useful tool for this purpose. In addition, a few people thought that some of the data gathered in the interviews could be obtained more easily by using a questionnaire. OADM addresses these problems with the background and quantitative questionnaires.

Another criticism, although not a common one, was that the description, with its several drafts, is overly time-consuming to write. One analyst, however, said that while writing the descriptions was time consuming, it was very necessary since it allowed the delegation of effort. One analyst performed the study, while another worked with the office to find and implement a solution. Without the detailed description, this would have been much more difficult. In addition, the description allowed the same analyst to pick up the project again after a period of time when the details of the project might have been forgotten. Given the importance of the description in system design and work redesign, and the necessity of providing feedback to the office staff, the time required to produce a description seems justified.

On the positive side, all of the people who used the methodology liked the function/procedure and step/event/state ideas. They almost all commented that the idea of abstraction, rather than looking just at tasks, had been very valuable. This was certainly one idea that each analyst seemed likely to use in doing almost any study. In addition, most of the people who used the methodology said that they liked the step/event/state model because it provided a way to structure the interviews. One analyst in particular said that by using that model she was able to structure interviews in ways that produced useful results, rather than random data. She said that she has successfully used this idea in interviews for other types of studies, and was particularly pleased to have added the concept to her repertoire.

Company "D" will probably will not use OAM, exactly as it was presented, again. However, further questioning revealed that the major ideas from OAM, in particular the function/procedure model, the step/event/state model, and the two round interview, had been incorporated into already existing corporate methodologies. Company "C" has just completed its first, non-functional, stage of automation. The results of the test of OAM there were so positive that OAM, or more likely OADM, will be the analysis tool used in the next, functional, stage of automation. The analyst from company "B" has left the company and is now working independently, using a variation of OAM as one of his tools.

Chapter Five

Conclusions

Designers of any methodology hope that it will prove useful for some purpose. Enough results have been obtained to determine whether or not OAM and OADM are useful for their intended purposes. These results also indicate areas for further research. This chapter discusses the conclusions that can be drawn from experience with the methodologies and those areas where further research could prove interesting.

5.1 Usefulness

Experience with OAM and OADM shows that they are clearly useful for teaching analysis techniques to new analysts. People without much experience in studying offices were easily able to learn OAM and the studies that they performed were, by available measures and within the constraints of the methodology, as complete and useful as those performed by more experienced analysts. That the major principles of OADM were communicated across languages and through one repetition by nonusers seems to be major validation of the premise that OADM is teachable and learnable. All available evidence indicates that OAM and OADM admirably serve the first purpose for which they were designed.

OAM and OADM are not so clearly useful for deciding whether or not to automate an office. In some cases, the decision is obvious from an OAM description. In most cases, however, OAM does not provide enough information to perform the cost justification that is usually a part of this decision. OADM corrects this fault, gathering most, if not all, of the quantitative information that is required, as well as information that allows the analyst to determine leverage points for automation and some of the consequences that will result from changes in the office. Neither OAM nor OADM provides the analyst with a methodology for making the decision but OADM, and to a certain extent OAM, are useful tools that provide the information required for the decision making process. Much the same conclusion applies to OAM and OADM with regard to restructuring office work. OAM provides very little of the information, beyond a simple description of current operations, that is required to rationalize office procedures. OADM indicates why procedures are performed, provides useful quantitative data about volumes, length of time in process, etc., and matches the names of office staff with the roles that they play in procedures. Neither OAM not OADM provides guidance about how to actually go about restructuring procedures, but that was never the intention. OAM and OADM are data gathering tools whose purpose is to provide the information required to carry out other stages of the automation process. OADM, then, does serve this purpose well.

OAM and OADM were also intended to gather the information required for system design. OAM provides too little of the quantitative information and none of the normative information required for this process. OADM does provide this information. However, even OADM does not provide all of the information that a system designer might need. For example, OADM does not provide enough detail for the system designer to determine the exact format of any specialized forms, menus, or screens that may be part of the new system. The automation process is iterative. It would be too much to ask of any methodology that it anticipate the general structure of an automated system to gather the exact data that will be required for detailed system design. OADM gathers data for the first round of system design that specifies system architecture, size, and general use and, based on the deficits observed in OAM, serves this purpose well.

Experience with OAM shows that the descriptions it produces are useful as training and procedure manuals. While this use is somewhat orthogonal to the other possible uses, it is still one that the designers had anticipated. Since OAM produces a description of current operations, it is not surprising that it is useful for this purpose. This area, however, is the only one in which OAM may be more useful than OADM. While OADM does produce more complete descriptions of the office, it also gathers data that are not really necessary for a procedure or training manual. In particular, while some quantitative information is useful for this purpose, the quantitative data collected by OADM probably constitutes overkill. The information about problems and opportunities in the office is also not required. However, with some adaptations along the lines that have been suggested, OADM could serve as a methodology for writing an office procedure manual.

Finally, while experience has not provided enough case studies to determine whether they will be useful to the system designers of office automation vendors, the internal evidence indicates that, should enough studies accumulate, OAM and OADM will serve this purpose as well. Both OAM and OADM have standard description formats. The information about problems and opportunities in various offices may allow system designers to observe patterns for which standard solutions can be devised.

5.2 Further Research

Although OAM and OADM are useful for the purposes intended by their designers, and while OADM expands the limits of OAM, the methodologies do not solve all of the problems in this field. There are many areas which would require further research in order to expand the usefulness of OADM. One of the most obvious directions for further research is to expand the methodology into the areas of procedure restructuring and system design. Better understanding of these processes is required before OADM can be modified to them. Some work has been done in the area of procedure redesign, most notably by Ellis and Cook [17, 18, 12], but none from the functional approach. Analysis and adaptation of existing techniques would be an excellent starting point for work in this area. Given the rate of change of office system technology, understanding the system design process may be difficult and developing a methodology to aid analysts in the process may be impossible. However, further investigation in this area is required even to prove or disprove that premise.

One of the most severe limitations of OADM is that it does not really address the issue of understanding managerial work³⁶. OADM is best suited to understanding semi-structured procedures. Most managerial work appears to lack even the minimum amount of structure required by OADM. However, this conclusion may result from a lack of techniques for finding structure or from the lack of a model which would impose structure. Further research into both of these areas could greatly improve the usefulness of OADM.

Another limitation of OADM is that it does not attempt to understand the social structure of the office. Ideally, changes should be made in such a way that they minimize disturbance to

³⁶As opposed to professional work which OADM handles well

interpersonal interactions. Without understanding the pattern of interactions, this is very difficult to do. Presumably, work exists in this area in other disciplines which could be applied in the context of office automation. Further work in this area would certainly benefit OADM.

Finally, while OADM is addressed to the problems of automating offices, many of the techniques could be applied to the problem of understanding office work for the design of better office systems. This would require a change in emphasis and perhaps some changes in the types of data gathered. Further work along this line would have the benefit of expanding the uses for OADM.

Despite these limitations and the need for further work, OADM remains a useful tool in a variety of areas. It can be used to train office analysts, to write procedure manuals, and, perhaps most importantly, it provides a methodology for collecting the information required in later stages of the office automation process.

Appendix A

Interview Checklists

The following checklists are designed to help the analyst remember what to ask in an interview. A few are lists of other useful information. These lists are *not* intended to serve as interview forms or questionnaires. Rather, they are included as aids to the analyst's memory.

Study Process Steps

- 1. Prepare and send background questionnaire.
- 2. Review questionnaire results and any other background material about the office that may be available.
- 3. Meet with the office manager.
- 4. Interview the staff.
- 5. Produce the draft documents.
- 6. Prepare and administer quantitative questionnaire.
- 7. Iterate the interview process.
- 8. Produce the final documents.
- 9. Review the study and options for improvement with the office manager.
- 10. Present options for improvement to the office staff and obtain feedback.
- 11. Prepare a plan for future action.

Background Questionnaire Topics

Organization This includes the internal organization chart of the office and some information as to where the office fits into the larger organization. Most managers can answer this question by simply providing the appropriate organization charts.

Staffing How many people are there in the each part of the office? In a small office this question is not useful since one box on the internal organization chart will represent one person. However, in larger offices where the chart may not show every person in the office, the additional information is necessary to understand the relative sizes of the parts.

Geography What is the physical layout of this office? Are all of the personnel in the same general area or is part of the office separated physically from the rest? If the office is separated, why? Where are the parts? How far apart are they?

Forms What are the important forms in the office? The manager can probably delegate this one. The analyst should ask for a copy of each important form and a brief explanation of how it is used.

- Databases What are the important databases in the office? What are their approximate sizes in some measure that seems reasonable? Briefly, what kinds of information are in each database and how are the database used? How are they stored? As paper files? On computers? Microfilm? Other technologies? The analyst's knowledge of the entire organization and the types of technologies that it is likely to use will have to guide these questions.
- Data Processing Does this office interface with any kind of centralized data processing system? If so, what kinds of information does the office send to, and receive from, data processing? What reports does the office receive and, briefly, what are they used for?
- Technology Does the office currently use any computer-based systems? If so, what are the systems (manufacturer, system name, size, etc)? Briefly, how are the used? Does the office make use of any other office technologies? If so, what are they and for what are they used?
- Job Descriptions What are the different job titles in this office? The analyst should ask for copies of job descriptions for the various jobs if such descriptions are available.
- Budget What are the principal non-salary expenditures in the office? How much is spent on each? What is the total office budget?

What is the basic mission of the office?

Functions

Mission

What are the major functions performed by the office? The analyst should remember that the manager will not know the definition of function that is used in the function/procedure model and will answer this question is terms of her own understanding of the word. The answers, therefore, will not be the functions that will be developed later. Nevertheless, the manager's answer to this question can help to give a useful picture of the office.

Manager Interview

- 1. establish ground rules for the study;
 - a. introductions
 - b. format of study
 - c. required effort
 - d. good time to do study?
 - e. context
 - Is this office currently involved in any other studies?
 - Are there any major changes in the office expected in the near future that will effect the results of this study? A re-organization, a changing of the office mission, or anything similar?
 - Have there been any major changes recently which might effect the study?
 - f. manager's responsibilities
 - g. presentation of study to staff
- 2. understand the functions and resources of the office
 - a. mission
 - b. functions
 - c. major resources
 - d. staffing levels for each function
- 3. verify the organizational context
 - a. reporting relationships to higher management
 - b. internal organization of the office
 - c. staffing and support levels by job category
 - d. key interfaces to other offices

4. identify key personnel for interviews

- a. within the office
 - number
 - experience
- b. outside the office

5. gather data for use in later cost/benefit analyses

- a. success factors
 - On what things in this office does the success of the entire office depend?
 - How do you know when the office is doing a good job?
 - How do you know when you are doing a good job?
 - How does your boss know when the office is doing a good job?
 - How does your boss know when you are doing a good job?
 - Where would a sudden disaster in this office hurt the most?
 - What currently prevents this office from functioning its best? Why is that important?
 - If you were unexpectedly out of contact with the office for several months, what would you first want to know about the office when you returned?
 - If you had more hours in a day, what would you do with them?
 - If there were more people in this office, what would you have them do?

6. manager's work

Hypothesis Questions

- 1. Symptom/Problem (before interview)
 - Is this person likely to have any of the known problem symptoms? If so, which ones? Might the person be able to shed some light on the causes behind these symptoms?
 - What are the interviewee's probable objectives in terms of her job?
 - What is she likely to consider critical to her success in the job?
 - What are some likely measures for her objectives and for knowing when she is doing well?

2. Function/Procedure (during interview)

- Is this activity part of a procedure that I know about? If so, where does it fit in the procedure? Does there seem to be a step missing somewhere?
- If the activity does not fit into a known procedure, what might other parts of this new procedure be? Is there someone to whom I have already spoken who might also participate in this procedure but who forgot to tell me about it? To what function does this procedure belong?

Symptom/Problem Questions

- 1. Do you have any problems in getting your job done? If so, what are they? (If the interviewee asks what kind of problems, the answer is "whatever comes to mind.")
- 2. If you had more time, what would you like to do with it? Alternatively, if what you currently do suddenly took much less time, what would you do with the rest of your time at work? (These questions should also be asked about any other resources that seem to be important.)
- 3. If you were unexpectedly out of contact with the office for several months, what would be the first thing that you would want to know when you returned? What would be the next things?
- 4. Are there any projects, or parts of your work, that you have been trying to do but, for one reason or another, have not been able to? If so, what are they and why have you not been able to accomplish them?
- 5. How do you know when your work is going well? Is there some measure in the work itself (such as the number of customer complaints, or some other measure) that helps you to know when you are doing a good job? What external measure do you use? Your boss' approval? The opinion of coworkers?

Procedure Analysis Checklist

- 1. Office Functions and Objects
- 2. Procedures for each function
- 3. Mainline outline for each procedure
- 4. For each procedure step, the following information:
 - what event initiates the step
 - what is done in concrete terms
 - what terminates the step
 - what are the timing constraints
 - what are the inputs and outputs
 - what are the sources and destinations
 - which databases and "mental lists" are used
 - how (and what) special equipment is used
- 5. Databases and mental lists

6. Intention and volumes

- Why is this function performed? What would the results be if it were suddenly not performed?
- Why is this procedure performed? How often? How long does is take? How many of the objects, about which this procedure is concerned, are in process at any given time? Are there periods when this procedure is performed more often, or less often, than usual?
- Why is this procedure step performed? What would happen if it were not performed? How long does this step usually take in both actual and elapsed time? How often does something go wrong, that is, how often does an exception occur, in this step?
- Why does this object exist? What would happen if it were eliminated? How many of this object are there at a time? How long does this object usually "live"?

- Why does this database exist? What is it used for? How big is it? How often is it accessed? Does it change size over time? What kinds of items does it contain? Text, numbers, paper, etc? How is the information stored? Electronically, files, microfilm, etc?

Appendices

- 1. A list of the major databases, logs, and lists in the office. Information about each including the general size and format, the current physical form, the type of information included, and the typical use.
- 2. Copies of the principal forms used by the office. These are often useful for reference.
- 3. A glossary. This is particularly important if the office uses a large number of terms whose meanings are not obvious to readers from outside the office. The glossary can define the terms, which can then be used throughout the description.
- 4. A table matching titles with people. Who does what in a procedure is indicated by the use of job titles. If work in the office is to be reorganized, it will be important to know which titles belong to which people.
- 5. Results of the quantitative questionnaire. Since it may be difficult or inappropriate to include much of this information in the text, it should be put into an appendix.
- 6. Samples of the questionnaire and log which constitute the quantitative questionnaire. These will provide a basis for comparison across studies. In addition, questions may arise later that can be answered by reference to the original questionnaire.

Appendix B

Analyst Forms

B.1 Guide to using the Checklists

Introduction

The Checklist package is designed to be used by someone familiar with the methodology. Its purpose is to

- Help organize the notes taken during an interview
- Remind the analyst of the function/procedure model
- Provide an organized place to record information for use in the writeup

The material is organized into two groups, one for the first interview with the office supervisor and one for subsequent first-round staff interviews.³⁷

Manager interview

The manager forms have places for recording the mission of the office, the major functions and resources, the office organization, and communication with other offices.

In the table for listing the functions used to carry out the mission, the "Why?" column is for use when a function does not seem to fit the basic mission. The "Major documents received/created" columns should interpret documents in the most general sense. Examples might be "application file" or "payroll form." "How long" means how long has this procedure been implemented, and " # people" means how many people work on this function. The last column, "Names", should be used for recording the names of one or two people to interview for that function. The office organization chart will usually be obtained from the background questionnaire. If so, just make sure that the information requested on that page is clear from

³⁷Some of the forms should be layed out horizontally on larger paper for actual field use.

the chart. If not, make use of the page to sketch a chart. The next table is for identifying lines of communication. Space is provided for listing communication with other offices and a description of, or reason for, that communication.

Staff interview

The staff forms are organized as a main checklist and a series of tables. The second page asks for a breadth-first survey of the main responsibilities of the employee. As the functions and procedures to which the responsibility belongs are identified, the analyst should fill in the appropriate columns.

Details of the office structure are recorded on the following tables. Procedures should be documented on the "Procedure details" sheets, one per sheet. Space is provided for a more elaborate description of the procedure and listing the tasks that are used to perform it. Three other tables are used for recording certain types of "objects" found during the interview. The most general is the communications table. The table can be used for an input or an output-the analyst should complete the relevant fields for each communication. The other two, logs and databases, are more specific and contain columns for recording certain kinds of quantitative data.

Sometimes it is difficult to decide whether something is a database or communication object. Receipt of a communication may cause, among other things, an update to a database. The communication itself may also be filed in some way. It is also possible that the communications, when filed, become a database in themselves. If such confusion arises, the analyst may want to record the item as both a communication and a database, making clear the relationship between the two.

B.2 Checklist for manager interview

Basic information

Office name:

Interview with:

Interview date:

Official job title:

Reports to:

Length of time:

- With company:
- With this office:
- At this job:

Office mission

What is/are the mission, charter, or purpose of this office?

How long has this office existed?

Has the purpose been pretty much the same over the years? If it has changed, how recent is that change? What was it previously?

Main functions

What are the major resources in the office?

How is the mission implemented? What are the main steps, or functions?

•		Major	Major			
		documen.	documen.	How	#	
Description	Why?	<u>received</u>	created	long	people	Names

Organization Chart

Get or draw an office organization chart. This should be the *formal* organization. Also show:

- to whom (or to what office) does the manager report?
- who (or what office) is above that?

Day-to-day organization and communication

.

Indicate below with which offices this office communicates. Get the name and a brief description or a reason for the communication.

		description	
<u>office</u>	communication	<u>or reason</u>	

.

B.3 Checklist for staff interviews

Basic information

Office name:

Interview with:

Official Job title:

Job role name:

Interview date:

Reports to:

Directly supervises: name and job title

Length of time:

- With company
- With office
- At this job

Typical education, training requirements for people in this position:

Turnover rate for this position:

Brief description of position

Major responsibilities

List below the major responsibilities this position has. Try to find the office function and procedure to which it belongs.

Description of responsibility Function/Procedure

B.4 Procedure details

Interview with:

Job title:

Date:

Office:

Responsibility name:

Description:

Special environment or equipment used:

.

Initiating	Action	Terminating	Time	I/0	Database
<u>Conditions</u>	Taken	Conditions	Const.		Used

B.5 Databases

.

Interview with:

Job title:

Date:

Office:

Complete this table for each databases maintained:

Name	Media	Fields	How	Source	Freq.	Freq.	Size
			Sort.	Update	Update	Access	

B.6 Logs ,

.

Interview with:

Job title:

Date:

Office:

Complete the following table for each log used in the office:

Name	Media	Fields	Logging	Freq.	Action when	Archive
<u> </u>			Event		Completed	

B.7 Communications

Interview with:

Job title:

Date:

Office:

Complete this table for each communication - document, message, computer printout, whatever:

			From/		Action	How	Sent	#	Freq
Name	Fields	Media	То	Freq	Taken	Filed	To	Copies	

Appendix C

Questionnaires, Logs

The following is not intended to form a usable questionnaire, but rather to provide a menu of topics, ideas, and questions that can be used to tailor a questionnaire to a particular organization. Each item or series of items has an annotation suggesting the use of responses to that item. The analyst should choose items for the final questionnaire based on the annotations and the structure of the office. Each question should be asked within the context of a procedure. For example, if a procedure involves significant amounts of travel, questions about travel should ask about travel for purposes of that procedure, rather than about travel in general. The exact format of the questions on the final questionnaire will depend on the ultimate use of the information, the organizational style, and the available formatting facilities.

The questionnaire material is divided into two sections. The first section collects information about tasks and equipment with little regard to the structure of the office and depends on self-reporting. The second section provides a format for a log to record the actual instances of objects in process.

C.1 Quantitative Questionnaire

In addition to selecting from the questions below, the analyst should obtain some biographical information about the respondents. Exactly what should be asked will depend on the situation. The analyst might ask for name, position, work experience, time with the company, and so forth. This information is not directly relevant to the automation or reorganization process, but is useful for identifying the respondents and for giving them some easy warmup questions to answer. Alternatively, the analyst can ask anonymous questions about age, sex, perhaps job title, etc. Again these questions serve no immediate purpose, but they may prove useful for post-implementation studies of responses to the automation process. And finally, the analyst can chose not to ask for any background information.

The questions that follow were derived from a number of sources, particularly Office Automation by Lieberman, Selig, and Walsh [36] and Office Automation: A Comparison of In-House Studies by Sirbu et al [56]. Some of the questions are obviously intended for managers and professionals while others are appropriate to secretaries and clerks. The analyst will have to use appropriate judgment in choosing questions for the various office constituencies and should feel free to reword questions to fit particular situations. The questions listed here are intended merely to provide ideas about how to obtain certain kinds of useful information.

There is no significance to the order of the following topics.

Equipment

- 1. The answers to the following question will provide the analyst with a complete inventory of the equipment present in the office and will show whether or not the equipment is being used. If equipment is found of which the analyst is unaware, she should certainly find out how and why it is used. Other questions that may be suggested by responses to this question include:
 - Why do you have this equipment if you don't use it? Is it leftover from some previous way of doing things? Would you like to use it? Is there something preventing you from using it? Do you know how to use this piece of equipment?
 - Why would you like to have this equipment that you don't already have? What would you use it for? Do you know how to use it? Have you ever had it in the past in this office? If so, why is it no longer here?

One area of possible change in the office is to remove unused and unnecessary equipment, better utilize underused equipment, and bring in new equipment that will help to improve the way things are done. The answers to this question will provide data that is necessary to make these changes.

Fill in the blanks with the appropriate letters in regard to the following equipment:

a. Located in my office and I use it.

- b. Located in my office, but I do not use it.
- c. Have access to and I use it.
- d. Have access to but do not use it.
- e. Equipment not available, but would use if it were.

f. Equipment not available and would not use it.

- ---- telephone
- ---- mechanical telephone-answering device
- ---- speaker phone
- — intercom
- calculator or adding machine
- ---- computer terminal
- —— Telex or TWX
- ---- individual dictation unit
- ---- dictation system (one with a remote recorder)
- — individual transcribing unit
- facsimile or telecopier
- ---- copier
- video display or CRT typewriter
- magnetic card, tape, or memory typewriter
 - manual, electric, or correcting typewriter

Services

1. Outside services are another likely area for change in an office. It may be cost effective to look for alternatives, technological or otherwise, for services that are used a lot. On the other hand, an office may be performing some activity that could be done more cost effectively by an outside service. Or other changes that are proposed for the office may affect the use of outside services. Without knowing what services are currently used, these issues cannot be addressed. The following question asks about what services the respondent uses. The answers, on the whole, should not surprise an analyst who has completed the first round of interviews. This question serves as a check on the data that the analyst has gathered in the course of understanding how the office works. The analyst should be sure that she understands how and why these services are being used. Check the following business services you use from other companies. For each one that you use, indicate approximately how many times per week or per month you use it.

- ---- messenger service (per week) (per month)

- ____ graphics/composition (per week) (per month)
- — printing (per week) (per month)
- ____ consultants/professionals (per week) (per month)
- — computer time (per week) (per month)
- ----- typing service (per week) (per moth)
- —— office temporaries (per week) (per month)
- ----- other (specify, including frequency of use)_
- 2. The following question simply provides more detail about the source of messenger services. If the office warrants it, similar questions could be asked about any of the services listed above. Knowing whether the service is provided by an external company or by another portion of the same organization can affect decisions about changing these services. For example, if the office being studied is the largest user of a service provided by another organizational unit, eliminating the need for that service is likely to have political repercussions.

If you use messenger services, what percentage of the time do you use each of the following? (the total should equal 100%.)

- internal company messengers

- ---- messengers provided by an outside service

----- other (specify)__

Information Retrieval

 Respondents may find the next question hard to answer. Some questionnaires ask instead about how people look for information, by phone, in files, etc., but the method of search is much less interesting than the object of the search. The following question should elicit situations in which necessary information in chronically unavailable. The analyst should be aware of these cases, but if not, should follow up to find out what the information is and why it is not available.

List any information that you need to perform your job but for which you must

often search.

2. The next two questions are designed to determine whether external access to information in the office is required. The answers to these questions will influence the architecture of any system that may be installed in the office. The first question simply asks about general need. The second question is more specific. The analyst can substitute a list of the known databases in an office for the request to name databases and can ask the respondent to indicate how often she needs to access to each while away from the office. One key piece of information that cannot be easily gathered on a questionnaire is the importance of having access to the databases.

How often do you need to access a database while away from the office? (Check one.)

- — frequently

- ---- sometimes

---- seldom

----- never

3. Which files, manuals, reports, or other data sources that are kept in the office do you need to access when you are away from the office?

- Names?_____

- How often for each?_____

- Are you usually looking for a specific kind of information?______ If so, what?______

4. Manuals are often targets of automation. Many manuals require constant revision or are continually referred to. These manuals may be candidates for online storage or revision. Other manuals are of little use and can be eliminated. In order to decide whether to do anything about manuals and what to do, a complete list of manuals must be obtained, along with information about how often they are referred to and/or revised, their lengths, and their importance (a manual may be referenced infrequently but that occasional reference may be extremely important). The following question will generate a complete list of manuals used in the office, along with the frequency of use. The answer will also show which manuals are not being used. The analyst can then collect information about the length and importance of those manuals for which it seems necessary.

List the manuals you refer to in your job (a manual is a collection of

procedures/guidelines, organized in a specific manner and usually enclosed in a binder-e.g., secretaries manual, standards and procedures manual, operating manual) and indicate approximately how often you refer to each:_____

Communications

This section contains questions about all forms of communication, particularly mail and telephone.

1. The next several questions ask about outgoing mail. If some substitute for conventional document distribution is under consideration (for example, electronic mail or facsimile) the answers to the first few questions will provide rough figures that can be used for cost justification. In order to determine the savings from the new technology, one must estimate the reduction in current distribution methods. Estimating a reduction implies knowing current volumes. In addition, unusual responses to these questions, for example, a large number of hand carried documents, may suggest areas for further investigation. Other questions ask about alternative ways of preparing outgoing mail. One question asks about the necessity of return receipts. The answers to these question will be important in designing a new system.

On the average, how many pieces of outgoing mail do you send in a day?

- 2. What percentage of outgoing documents are distributed by each of the following? (The total should equal 100%.)
 - ----- % hand carrying
 - ---- % internal mail, this location
 - — % internal mail, other company locations
 - —— % external mail (postal service)
 - — % TWX (teletype to teletype transmission)
 - — % facsimile or telecopier
 - ----- % messenger service
 - ----- % other (specify)
- 3. For approximately what percent of the documents in the previous question do you need confirmation of the receipt?

4. If your secretary had more time, could your secretary prepare drafts of certain

correspondence or other documents that are well-defined or routine in nature? (Yes/No) If so, please list categories of these documents _____

- 5. Is your secretary already preparing draft replies for some categories of correspondence? (Yes/No)
- 6. The next several questions ask about incoming mail. The first three questions may be most appropriate for secretaries who handle mail for their principals. The remaining questions can apply to anyone. The first question asks about how incoming mail is handled. The answer to this question may effect system design and feasibility. For example, if a secretary routinely attaches relevant files to incoming mail, an electronic mail system that does not allow some reasonable equivalent may be of little use. The analyst should be sure to understand why the mail is handled in a particular way and the importance (or lack thereof) of doing so. The answers to the next two questions provide valuable figures for cost justification. The remaining questions ask about documents that are received but not used. The analyst should follow up on these questions since they suggest areas that are ripe for change. Follow up questions might include finding out why the person receives the unused material, why the material is not used, and the cost of the material.

What do you do with incoming mail? (Check appropriate responses.)

----- do not handle

----- deliver unopened

- · ---- open
- ---- time-stamp
- ---- read for information
- · ----- highlight
 - ____ attach route slip
- ____ attach relevant files for action
- handle request personally
 - ----- answer letter personally
- 7. On the average, how many pieces of incoming mail do you handle a day, excluding magazines, brochures, advertisements, newspapers, etc.?

- 8. Do you perform mail-handling tasks for people besides your principal(s)? (Yes/No)
- 9. What kinds of documents that you receive do you read and discard, or read, file, and never use again?_____
- 10. What percent of the incoming information published by the company do you not need in order to do your job?
- 11. Does the information in the previous question consist of one or more of the following? (Check the appropriate responses.)

•	letters or memos	
·	reports (specify)	
• •	manuals (specify)	
	other (specify)	

12. The answer to the following question provides a number useful for cost justification and system design in an office that uses the specified equipment.

On the average, how many times a month do you or your secretary send/receive documents via facsimile or telecopier?

13. The next two questions collect basic information about telephone configurations. If any modification to the telephone system, or to the number or physical arrangement of office personnel, is being considered, the answers to these questions will be necessary.

How many telephone numbers ring on your phone?

- 14. Please list the extension numbers and the names of the parties, placing an A to the right of names of people who answer their own phones, and an H to the right of names of people whose phones you answer.
- 15. The next questions ask about telephone calls. If modifications to the phone system or the introduction of answering machines are being considered, the answers to many of these questions will be necessary. The answers to questions about origins and destinations of calls and types of messages may be important in justifying electronic mail or messaging systems. There is overlap in the content of certain questions since some are clearly intended for secretaries or receptionists while others are intended for principals.

Approximately how many incoming phone calls do you take/receive in a day?

16. Of the incoming calls:

a. How many can you handle yourself?

b. How many require messages for other people?

c. What percent of messages you take fall into each of the following categories? (The total should equal 100%.)

- — % please call

- — % will call again

----- % a message of substance (caller state the problem, question, etc.)

17. On the average, how many messages do you take for your principal(s) in one day while he or she is (they are) our of the office or on the phone?

18. Does anyone cover your phone while you are away from your desk? (Yes/No)

- 19. Estimate the average amount of time each day that your phone is not covered by anyone.
- 20. Do you answer your own or are your calls screened by a secretary or the switchboard?

- — answer own phone

---- calls screened

- 21. Of your incoming phone calls, what percent are from each of the following? (The total should equal 100%.)
 - —— % people in your own department, this location
 - ---- % people in other departments, this location
 - % people at other company locations
 - — % external parties
 - ----- % international, external
 - —— % international, internal

22. On the average, how many messages are left for you in a day while you are out of

the office or on the phone?

23. What percent of messages you receive fall into the following categories? (The total should equal 100%.)

- — % please call

- — % will call again
- —— % returned your call

- —— % a message of substance--something other than "please have him call me"

- 24. What is your opinion of recording devices for leaving messages? (Check your response.)
 - — they are useful and I like them
 - ---- they are useful but I do not like them
 - ----- they are not useful and I like them
 - they are not useful and I do not like them

----- no opinion

25. On the average, how many outgoing phone calls do you place in a day?

26. What percentage of your phone calls are placed by each of the following? (The total should equal 100%.)

- —— % уои

- ---- % your secretary

- ----- % other parties (specify)__
- 27. Of your outgoing phone calls, what percent are to each of the following? (The total should equal 100%.)

% people in your own department, this location

% people in other company locations

----- % external parties

----- % international, external

- % international, internal
- 28. If you cannot reach a person, what percent of the time do you do each of the following? (The total should equal 100%.)
 - — % leave a call-back message
 - — % leave a message
 - — % call the person back when you are able to
 - —— % go see the person instead
 - ____ % other (specify)_____

29. On the average, how many outgoing calls do you make in a day?

30. About how many of these outgoing calls do you place for other people?

31. What percentage of your principal(s) calls do you place?

32. The usefulness of the answers to the next two questions may not be immediately obvious. However, if a change is contemplated in the office that will drastically change the form of communication used by office personnel, there may be strong reasons why that change should not be made. For example, there may be a good reason, overlooked by the system designers, as to why most communication by particular people is verbal. The fact that the communication is verbal and that it is determined by the job will show in the answers to these questions. It will then be up to the analyst to determine why it is so and if it is important. If it does turn out to be important for verbal communication to continue, then without this question, the analyst might not have realized its importance and a mistake might have been made.

Different people spend relatively different amounts of time in verbal or written communication. What percent of your communication time is: (The total should equal 100%.)

----- % verbal

----- % written

33. The mode of communication in the previous question is: (Check one)

- ---- completely determined by the job
- ____ primarily determined by the job
- ---- about equally determined by job and preference
- ---- primarily determined by personal preference
- ---- completely determined by personal preference
- 34. The next two questions are intended to determine the respondent's attitude towards various types of communication. The answers to these questions have relevance only in that people who truly prefer one form of communication may be reluctant to use another. If sentiment throughout an office goes against a particular form of communication, then it may be difficult to successfully implement changes that require extensive use of that form of communication.

If you need to exchange information with someone, your preferred mode of communication would be: (Check one.)

- — instant written communication

----- instant verbal communication

35. If you need to exchange information with someone, your preferred mode of communication would be one of the following.

	% personal	
• <u></u>	% phone	
	% video conference	
+ 	% in writing	
	% other (explain)	

Travel

1. The following questions ask about travel. If changes are being made that might affect the need for travel, (for example, if electronic mail or video conferencing are being made available, and other conditions are correct, the amount of travel may be reduced) then figures about the current rate of travel may be required for cost justification. In addition, if office personnel often need access to certain kinds of information while traveling, this will effect the design of the automated system. The first few questions are very general. The primary use for these questions would be to get rough figures for the entire office about the rate of travel. The questions about travel destinations, reasons for travel, and use of information while traveling will be more useful. The question about reasons for travel should be tailored more specifically to the particular office. The categories given here are by no means complete and the more specific the data, the more useful it will be. The question about databases accessed while traveling should also be tailored to the particular office. The form given below is useful to find out whether or not data from the office is actually used during travel. If the analyst already knows that this is the case, the questions should ask about each of the databases that have been identified for the particular office.

How many times do you travel to other cities in an average year?

- 2. On the average, how many days are you away on each trip?
- 3. What percentage of your business travel is devoted to each of the following? (The total should equal 100%.)
 - — % internal locations nationally, own company
 - — % internal locations internationally
 - —— % external locations nationally, another company
 - % external locations internationally
 - % other (specify)_
- 4. Do you often travel to the same location(s)? (Yes/No) If so, please list those locations and the reasons for going there.
- 5. What percent of your business travel is for each of the following reasons? (The total should equal 100%.)
 - % sales/marketing
 - — % professional meetings/conferences
 - ---- % product support/installation
 - % other (specify)_
- 6. While traveling, how often do you need information from your office? (Check one.)

---- frequently

----- sometimes

- — seldom

---- never

- 7. How often do you need to access a database while away from the office? (Check one.)
 - ---- frequently - ---- sometimes - ---- seldom - ---- never

Calendar

1. The following questions concern calendars. Some of these questions will provide information about calendar usage which may be needed for cost justification of an automated calendar system. Answer to the other questions will provide information necessary for selecting or designing such a system.

Check the kind of calendar(s) you keep.

- month at a glance
- ----- week at a glance
- ---- daily
- — none
- ----- other (specify)_____

2. Who maintains your calendar? (Check one.)

- ----- I do
- ---- my secretary does
- my secretary and I do
- ---- not applicable
- ----- other (specify)_

- 3. Do you carry a calendar with you when you are away from the office? (Yes/No)
- 4. Approximately what percent of the entries on your calendar does each of the following constitute? (The total should equal 100%.)
 - — % scheduled meetings
 - ----- % scheduled telephone calls
 - — % deadlines
 - — % reminders
 - —— % phone numbers and addresses
 - — % birthdays and nonbusiness events
 - —— % other (specify)_____
- 5. On average how many entries are contained on your calendar each day?
- 6. Approximately how many times a day do you refer to your calendar?
- 7. What percent of the entries made on your calendar are rescheduled?
- 8. What percent of the entries scheduled on your calendar are made in each of the following periods? (The total should equal 100%.)
 - — % six months or more in advance
 - — % three months in advance
 - —— % one month in advance
 - — % two weeks in advance
 - — % one week in advance
 - — % one day in advance
 - % the same day
- 9. Do you refer to your calendar for information from past entries? (Yes/No)
- 10. Do you keep a duplicate of your principal(s) calendar? (Yes/No)

Information Storage

1. The following questions ask about various forms of information storage, particularly files and their use. Questions about the size of databases or files and forms of storage technology (microfiche, microfilm, paper files, online computer systems, etc.) used by the entire office should have been asked in the background questionnaire. The purpose of the following questions is to find out the mechanics of how the files are used and maintained. A few questions at the end ask about other types of information such as manuals, lists, and logs. The first two questions ask about the kinds of files kept in people's offices. The answers to these questions will be important for system design. Personal and confidential files must be treated differently from general files of various forms.

Do you maintain files in your office? (Yes/No)

- 2. What percent of the files you maintain in your office fall in each of the following categories? (The total should equal 100%.)
 - ----- % active files, which will eventually be filed elsewhere
 - — % confidential files kept under lock and key
 - —— % personal files
 - ---- % archival files, which could be filed elsewhere
 - — % files you have pulled from elsewhere and which you will replace of have replaced
 - ____ % duplicates of material that are also filed elsewhere
 - ----- % personnel

— % other (specify)__

3. The next question asks about how files are used. The question, as presented here, is rather general, but its answer will help with system design. It will be important to know whether files are used in the office or taken elsewhere. Using specific information about the office, more detailed questions, that are not shown here, can be asked about the frequency of reference and change to particular databases. The answers to these questions will be necessary for cost justification.

Why do you need to access files, either in your own office or from your secretary or another area? (Check the appropriate responses.)

— for reference and use in the office

- for reference and to take to other locations
- ----- make hard copy and forward
- — update
- ---- discard
- · ---- other (specify)_
- 4. The next series of questions asks about the mechanics of using files. The analyst should be sure to understand why files are accessed in a particular way. The information will be necessary for system design.

Do you personally pull and use files for which your secretary is responsible? (Yes/No)

- 5. Who is responsible for replacing files you or your secretary has pulled for your use?
 - ---- your secretary
 - — clerk

----- whoever pulled the file

- 6. When files shared by several people are pulled, is there a check-out procedure indicating to others the locations of these files?
 - <u>yes</u> - <u>no</u>
 - ---- don't know
- 7. Do you personally pull and use the files for which other secretaries are responsible? (Yes/No)
- 8. Who is responsible for replacing files that have been pulled?
- 9. The following questions concern filing procedures. The answers to these questions relate somewhat indirectly to system design. New filing procedures may need to be developed for the new system. Knowing whether filing procedures currently exist and who is aware of them may help in introducing the new procedures.

Do you use a standard filing procedure? (Yes/No)

- 10. Has your group developed standard filing systems and procedures that are followed by each person? (Yes/No)
- 11. Which of the following applies to files in your area with regard to reviewing them, discarding them, or sending them to archive storage?
 - — written guidelines/procedures
 - ----- no written guidelines/procedures
 - ____ guidelines given verbally by your principal(s)
 - ---- self-initiated without guidelines
 - ____ files are not reviewed/purged
 - ---- do not know
- 12. Is your principal(s) familiar with your filing procedure? (Yes/No)
- 13. Are you familiar with your secretary's filing procedure? (Yes/No)
- 14. The remaining questions ask about other types of information, including manual and lists. The answers to these questions will help with system design and cost justification. The analyst may need to ask additional questions about lists or logs that are to be changed.

How many internally published reference manuals do you routinely use in your work?

- 15. How many copies of manuals are you responsible for keeping up to date?
- 16. Which of the following lists, logs, or quick reference files do you keep? (Check the appropriate responses.)
 - ---- telephone numbers (approximate number of names)
 - ---- address lists (approximate number of names)
 - — mail log (approximate number of entries)
 - — equipment records (approximate number of records)
 - ---- other (specify, giving approximate size)

131

Calculation

1. The following questions concern calculations. The answers to these questions will tell the analyst whether a calculation package is necessary and will provide figures necessary for cost justification.

Does your work require calculations? (Yes/No) If so, how many hours a week do you spend doing calculations?

2. What percent of your calculations are done by each of the following? (The total should equal 100%.)

- — % calculator	
------------------	--

- — % adding machine

- ----- % paper and pencil
- — % computer
- — % other (specify)____

3. Do you ever calculate while on the phone? (Yes/No) If so, does this happen:

- ----- frequently
- ----- occasionally
- rarely
- 4. What percent of the results of your calculations are incorporated into each of the following: (The total should equal 100%.)
 - —— % text document (letter, memo, etc.)
 - —— % bills/receipts/other forms
 - ----- % spread sheets
 - % other (specify)

Typing

1. The following questions concern typing. These questions are not intended to provide significant help with system design. Entire questionnaires have been

designed to determine the exact needs for various kinds of typing support.³⁸ These questions are intended to help with cost justification and to provide a flavor of the types of things one might want to ask. The analyst should also ask specific questions that are tailored to the office regarding major typing tasks (manuals, reports, etc.) and major typing needs (technical typing, tables, etc.). Automation of typing can produce improvements in turnaround time and in quality. Since quality is hard to measure, most of the following questions ask about turnaround time.

From the time you finish dictating or writing a letter, a report, or other matter, how long (in hours) does it take on the average before the typed version is back on your desk?

2. What percent of your letters are in final form on the first typing?

- 3. What percent of your written work must you have back on your desk in each of the following times? (The total should equal 100%.)
 - ----- % less than one hour
 - — % one to three hours
 - ---- % four to eight hours
 - — % the next day
 - ----- % two or more days
- 4. What percent of your written work would you like to have back on your desk in each of the following times? (The total should equal 100%.)
 - ----- % less than one hour
 - — % one to three hours
 - —— % four to eight hours
 - ---- % the next day
 - ----- % two or more days
- 5. What percent of your written work do you have back on your desk in each of the following times? (The total should equal 100%.)

³⁸See, for example, the checklist, Functions and Considerations, prepared by the MIT Office Automation Planning Committee [48].

- ----- % less than one hour
- ----- % one to three hours
- % four to eight hours
- — % the next day
- —— % two or more days
- 6. What percent of your written work has to be received by the addressee in each of the following times? (The total should equal 100%.)
 - ____ % less than one hour
 - ____ % one to three hours
 - % four to eight hours
 - —— % the next day
 - —— % two or more days
- 7. What percent of the documents that you produce are originated by each of the following? (The total should equal 100%.)
 - — % dictating to a machine
 - — % dictating to a secretary
 - —— % writing longhand
 - — % composing at a keyboard
 - — % other (specify)
- 8. What percent of your typing results from the following? (The total should equal 100%.)
 - — % machine dictation
 - ---- % shorthand
 - ---- % longhand
 - ----- % typewritten copy

----- % self-composed

— % other (specify)_

9. What percent of the typing for your principal(s) is handled by each of the following? (The total should equal 100%.)

•	% you
·	% other secretaries backing you up
•	% word processing center
-	% home office word processing center
:	% temporary secretaries
	% outside services

- 10. From the time you receive a dictated or drafted letter or other matter, on the average how long (in hours) does it take before it is back on your principal's desk in typed form? (Note: One day equals eight hours.)
- 11. What percent of the material that you are given to be typed is in final form on the first typing (i.e., not edited and put through another draft)?
- 12. When your typing workload builds up, who resolves the priority of which documents you should work on first?
 - you you
 - your principal
 - group manager
 - ---- designated secretary
 - no one
 - other, please explain_____
- 13. How many documents or manuals more than ten pages in length do you type or make revisions to during the year?
 - ----- more than 3 per month

2 or 3 per month

- ____ 1 per month - ____ 6 per year - ____ 3 per year - ____ none

Please list these documents or document categories. (Include Name of document or general category, Number of documents in category, Approximate number of pages per documents, Approximate number of pages per document revised each year following the original publication of the document.)

- 14. Are there any other documents you type that are updated from month to month, quarterly, or annually in which *most* of the text stays the same from one typing to the next? (An operating report in which a new column is added every three months would be an example of such a document.)
 - more than 5 such documents
 - — 3 or 4 such documents
 - ---- 1 or 2 such documents
 - ____ none

Please list these documents or documents categories. (Include Name or general category of document, Number of documents in the category, Approximate number of pages per document, frequency of revisions (i.e., daily, weekly, monthly, quarterly, annually, etc.).)

- 15. Is any material that you type sent to be photocomposed? (Yes/No) If yes, please list the documents. (Include Name of document, Number of pages, Frequency of document publication.)
- 16. Please indicate if you do very much of the following specialized typing applications.
 - ----- Statistical typing
 - —— Statistical typing wider than 11 inches
 - —— Chemical formulas
 - ----- Mathematical equations

Presentations

1. The following questions ask about presentations. If changes are anticipated that will effect the production of presentation materials, the answers to the following questions will provide figures necessary for doing cost justification of improvements. In addition, if work is to be reorganized, knowing who does what in this area may be important. None of these answers should surprise the analyst and the analyst should be sure to understand the reasons for any that seem unusual.

How many times a month do you attend meetings in which you must present information?

- 2. When presenting information, what percent of the time must you use visual aid (charts, transparencies, foils, slides)?
- 3. If you use visual aids, what percent of the time do you use each of the following? (The total should equal 100%.)

- ____ % flip charts

- — % transparencies/overhead projectors

- — % display on heavy card stock or poster board

- — % slide projectors

- ---- % other (specify)___

4. What percent of your flip chart visual aids are made by each of the following? (The total should equal 100%.)

----- % you

----- % your secretary/administrative assistant

----- % another principal

----- % graphic service/outside service

— % other (specify)__

5. What percent of your transparencies are made by each of the following? (The total should equal 100%.)

--- % you

- % your secretary/administrative assistant
- ----- % another principal
- % other (specify)_

Copying

1. The next several questions are about document copying. The answers to these questions will be necessary to cost justify any changes to the current arrangements.

On the average how many copies do you make a week?

- 2. On the average, how many copies of documents that you type do you make?
- 3. What percent of your copies are made by each of these methods?
 - — % carbon paper - — % copier - — % copysettes - — % print shop

4. What percent of the documents that you copy do you have to collate?

Work at Home

1. The following questions concern work at home. Changes that are made in an office may effect the work that office personnel do at home. These changes may range from allowing people who so choose to do more work at home, to reducing the need for office personnel to work additional hours at home. The analyst is not likely to have obtained the answers to these questions from the interviews, so these questions are likely to be valuable in many situations. The analyst should be sure to understand why people are working at home and exactly what they are doing.

The question about activities is appropriate in this context since people are unlikely to perform entire steps of procedures at home. However, where it seems appropriate, the analyst should change this question to ask about particular procedure steps.

Approximately how much time per week do you spend working at home? (Hours)

- 2. What percent of your work at home is in each of the following categories? (The total should equal 100%.)
 - — % reading
 - —— % writing
 - — % dictating
 - — % calculating
 - --- % telephoning
 - — % typing
 - — % face-to-face meetings, business
 - — % copying
 - ----- % computer programming
 - % other (specify)___
- 3. What percent of your current in-office tasks could be done at home if you had adequate support equipment?
- 4. Would you prefer to do this work away from the office if you could?
- 5. Do you have a typewriter at home? (Yes/No)
- 6. How many hours a week do you spend typing at home?
- 7. List the specific kinds of typing you do at home:__

Tickler

1. The answer to the following question will tell the analyst whether or not a tickler facility would be useful in a proposed system. If this area of inquiry seems important, many of the questions that were asked about the calendar can also be asked about the tickler, particularly those that deal with frequency of use, time-frame covered, and time span of entries.

Do you have a reminder system (follow-up or tickler) to check on work in progress, or a "to do" list? (Yes/No)

Supervisor/Supervisee Communications

 The following questions ask about how assignment of work is communicated between a secretary and a principal. The answers to these questions are important for system design. For example, if a system is to be installed which provides for online sharing of documents and a common form of communication between a secretary and principal is notations on documents, a problem could arise. Some other acceptable way must be found for this communication.

How does your secretary develop an understanding of your work? (Check the appropriate responses.)

he/she doesn	'n
--------------	----

written instructions on work

- — incoming mail

- —— outgoing mail

- ---- overhearing your interactions with others

face-to-face interactions with you

- ---- other (specify)_____

2. How do you develop an understanding of your principal(s) work? (Check the appropriate response or responses.)

- — written instructions on work

- ----- incoming mail

- ---- outgoing mail

• ----- overhearing your principal's interaction with others

- ____ face-to-face interaction with your principal

- ---- other (specify)
- 3. How does your principal(s) give instructions for your work? (Check the appropriate response.)

- — gives them in person

----- writes them longhand

140

---- calls on the phone

- —— calls on the intercom

dictates them

----- other (specify)_

Problem Areas

1. The following questions ask about potential problem areas. The answers to these questions may suggest areas for further investigation and potential change. The analyst should be aware of most of the problems, but asking this question provides a second check. The two questions are very similar, but the first is intended for principals and the second for support staff.

Indicate which office facilities, services, and/or operations listed below are major problem areas that repeatedly interfere with the effective performance of your job.

----- scheduled meetings in your office

----- scheduled meetings at other locations

- ----- unscheduled meetings
- ---- typing service quality
- ---- typing service turnaround time
- ____ general secretarial service other than typing
- ---- dictation equipment and services
- ---- facsimile or telecopier service
- ---- information retrieval from files by your secretary
- ---- information retrieval from files by you
- ____ general maintenance of files
- ---- incoming phone calls
 - ----- outgoing phone calls
- ----- receiving phone messages

- ---- number of interruptions
- ---- time and facilities for writing
- ---- scheduling of activities
- ---- time and facilities for calculation or computation
- ____ facilities and service for copying
- ---- availability and convenience of needed equipment
- ---- travel
- ---- space
- ---- staff support
- ---- external business services
- — internal mail
- 2. Indicate which activities, services, and/or facilities listed below consume much of your time, present difficulties in getting your job done, or are areas where you would like to see major improvements.
 - ---- scheduling meetings in your principal's office
 - scheduling meetings at other locations
 - ---- scheduling conference or project workrooms
 - ---- typing load
 - dictation equipment and services
 - ---- facsimile or telecopier service
 - ---- information retrieval from files (yours or files of other departments)
 - — locating information not normally filed in your area
 - ---- general maintenance of files
 - ----- incoming phone calls
 - ---- outgoing phone calls

142

- ---- taking phone message
- ---- number of interruptions

- ---- time and facilities for reading

- —— time and facilities for writing
- — time and facilities for calculation or computation
- ---- facilities and service for copying

- — availability and convenience of needed equipment (list equipment needed)

- —— support and cooperations of your principal(s)

- —— support and cooperations of other secretaries in your area or department

- ____ mail within the home office

- ____ mail to/from branches/laboratories/subsidiaries

- — manuals (preparing, maintaining, distributing, etc.)

Miscellaneous

1. The following questions cover a variety of areas. Many of these questions are appropriate only in certain limited situations and it will be up to the analyst to decide if they will provide additional useful information for a particular office. Other questions are designed to help identify problem areas or areas that could change.

Do you have peak work-load periods? (Yes/No) If yes:

- When?

- How Long?
- What are the reasons?

2. Do you do any overtime work?

----- yes, occasionally

yes, frequently

- ---- no

- 3. Please list any tasks you now do that could be delegated if more support were available.
 - Tasks that could be delegated_
 - Estimated number of hours you could save by delegating these tasks (hours/day, hours/month)_____
 - To whom could these tasks by delegated? (Secretary, Administrative Specialist)
- 4. List the most important activities that you would accomplish with the time made available from delegating the tasks listed above, and your best estimate of the value of these.

- List of Activities

- Estimated Value of Activities (Expense Reductions, Staff Reductions, etc.)

5. Can you type? (Yes/No)

- 6. Have you felt hesitant about using your secretaries for non-typing support in the past because they are too busy and overloaded?
 - ---- yes, frequently
 - ---- yes, occasionally

- 7. What percent of the day is your secretary needed but is not available to you for support tasks?
- 8. List activities your principals perform which you feel you could now do and help them be more effective._____
- 9. List activities your principals perform which you feel with additional training you could do and help them be even more effective._____
- 10. Have you ever been trained in one or more of the following? (Check the applicable responses.)

----- stenography

- ---- transcription from machines
- ____ computer terminal operation
- — keypunch
- ____ facsimile or telecopier operation
- ---- computer programming
- ---- automated typewriter operation (for example, Vydec, WANG, IBM)
- ----- other equipment, systems skills, etc. (specify)
- 11. How much working time on an average day do you spend away from your desk?
- 12. Which of the activities listed below do you perform while away from your desk? (Please check those items that apply.)
 - —— copying
 - ____ TWX
 - — facsimile or telecopier
 - ____ meetings or conversations
 - ---- reception
 - — errands
 - — libraries
 - ----- searching for people
 - ---- getting supplies
 - ----- visitor escort
 - ---- training sessions
 - ----- cashier
 - ---- picking up and delivering mail
 - ----- covering someone else's desk

----- telephone switchboard

- — other (specify)_

13. Are there any groups in other geographic locations that you work with in jointly preparing or coordinating documents where you find yourselves sending revisions back and forth via the mail, cable, or facsimile machine? (Yes/No) If yes, please describe.

14. What work do you have that requires confidential secretarial support?_____

- 15. Please describe any problems/comments/suggestions related to maintaining or improving lists (e.g. mailing, employee, customer), logs, and other recorded data.
- 16. Briefly describe below projects, activities, or responsibilities that you would like to take on or initiate, and give a brief description of the benefits that would result.

C.2 Procedure Logs

The following forms show the general structure of the log in bold type, sample headings in regular type, and sample completion in italics. The first log follows individual objects throughout their history. A separate log must be made for each person who handles the object throughout its history. In the example given, a clerk in an admissions office is responsible for responding to requests for applications and for filing test scores as they are received. These two steps appear on the log which she will complete. Other office personnel will receive logs which show their steps in the process. The id must be unique and the log must be completed over a period at least as long as the normal life of the object.

Elapsed Time Log

Object ID	Event	Step	Event	Step
Name	Request	Send App1.	Test Scores	Filed
Smith	10/2	10/3	12/10	12/14

The second log is designed to obtain data about the actual number of objects processed through a given step. The columns of additional relevant information will depend on the nature of the step.

Volume Log

Time	Event	Step	Oth	<u>er info</u>	
Date	Request	Send Appl.	Int'l	US	Same Day
10/2	14	12	2	12	12

The third log gathers data about particular exceptions and their frequencies.

,

Exceptions

Time	ID	Exception Exception		
Date	Name			
10/1	Smith	address incomplete		

References

[1]

Anthony, Robert N.

Planning and Control Systems: A Framework for Analysis. Harvard University Graduate School of Business Administration, Boston, 1965.

[2]

Bach, Fred W.

Analysis of Communications and Work Flow. McGraw-Hill, New York, 1972, pages 5-10 - 5-27.

[3]

Bair, James H. Productivity Assessment of Office Information Systems Technology. In Trends and Applications: 1978, Distributed Processing, pages 12-24. IEEE, 1978.

[4]

Baumann, L. S. and R. D. Coop. Automated workflow control: A key to office productivity.

In AFIPS Conference Proceedings, Volume 49, pages 549-554. AFIPS Press, Arlington, Va., May, 1980.

[5]

Beckhard, Richard and Reuben T. Harris. Organizational Transitions: Managing Complex Change. Addison-Wesley, Reading, Mass., 1979.

[6]

Bracker, Lynne C. and Benn R. Konsynski. The OFFIS System - A Tool in Automated Office Design. In 1981 Office Automation Conference Digest, pages 417-419. AFIPS, March, 1981.

[7]

Bullen, Christine V. and John F. Rockart.

A Primer on Critical Success Factors.

69, Massachusetts Institute of Technology Center for Information Systems Research, June, 1981.

[8]

Bullen, Christine V., John L. Bennett, and Eric D. Carlson. A Case Study of Office Work Station Use. *IBM Systems Journal* 21(3), 1982. [9]

Bullen, Christine V., John L. Bennett, and Eric D. Carlson.

A Case Study of Office Work Station Use.

WorkingPaper" 84, Massachusetts Institute of Technology Center for Information Systems Research, March, 1982.

[10]

Carlisle, James H.

Evaluating the impact of office automation on top management communication. In AFIPS Conference Proceedings, Volume 45. AFIPS Press, Montvale, N. J., 1976.

[11]

Cook, Carolyn L.

Office Procedure Analysis Through an Information Control Net Model. Internal Memo, Xerox Palo Alto Research Center, June, 1979.

[12]

Cook, Carolyn L.

Streamlining office procedures--An analysis using the information control net model. In AFIPS Conference Proceedings, Volume 49, pages 555-565. AFIPS Press, Arlington, Va., May, 1980.

[13]

Couger, J. D. and R. W. Knapp, editors. System Analysis Techniques. John Wiley & Sons, 1974.

[14]

Delehanty, George E.

Office Automation and Occupation Structure: A Case Study of Five Insurance Companies.

Industrial Management Review 7:99-108, Spring, 1971.

[15]

Driscoll, James W.

Office Automation: The Organizational Redesign of Office Work. Working Paper 106479, Alfred P. Sloan School of Management, MIT, May, 1979.

[16]

Ellis, Clarence, Peter Morris, and Stephen Smith.

The Santa Clara Billing Office Study.

Analysis Research Group Technical Report 78-2, Xerox Palo Alto Research Center, August, 1978.

[17]

Ellis, C. A.

Information Control Nets: A Mathematical Model of Office Information Flow. In Proceedings of Conference on Simulation, Measurement and Modeling Computer Systems, pages 225-239. August, 1979.

[18]

Ellis, C. A., R. Gibbons and P. Morris. Office Streamlining.

In Proceedings of the International Workshop on Integrated Office Systems., November, 1979.

[19]

Ellis, Clarence A. and Gary J. Nutt. Office Information Systems and Computer Science. ACM Computing Surveys 12(1):27-60, March, 1980.

[20]

Gorry, G. A. and M. S. Scott Morton. A Framework for Management Information Systems. Sloan Management Review 13(1):55-70, Fall, 1971.

[21]

Gruhn, Ann M. and Ann Carol Hohl. *Computer-Assisted Office Work -- A Perspective*. Research Report RC7242, IBM Thomas J. Watson Research Center, 1978. Yorktown Heights, N.Y.

[22]

Guetzkow, Harold. Communications in Organizations. Rand McNally & Company, Chicago, 1965, pages 534-573.

[23]

Hammer, Michael and Jay S. Kunin. Design Principles of an Office Specification Language. In AFIPS Conference Proceedings, 1980 National Computer Conference, Volume 49, pages 541-547. AFIPS Press, Arlington, Va., May, 1980.

[24]

Hammer, Michael and Jay S. Kunin.

OSL: An Office Specification Language / Language Description. Memo OAM-024, Massachusetts Institute of Technology Laboratory for Computer Science, Office Automation Group, December, 1980.

[25]

Hammer, Michael M. and Marvin A. Sirbu.

What is Office Automation?

In Proceedings of the National Computer Conference Office Automation Conference, pages 37-49. AFIPS, March, 1980.

[26]

Hammer, Michael and Michael Zisman.

Design and Implementation of Office Information Systems.

In Proc. NYU Symposium on Automated Office Systems, pages 13-24. New York University Graduate School of Business Administration, May, 1979.

[27]

Harris, Sidney E. The Acceptance of Technology in the Office. Journal of Information Management, Fall, 1980.

[28]

Hoos, Ida R. Automation in the Office. Public Affairs Press, Washington, D.C., 1961.

[29]

Karkula, Steve.

Information Flow in a Television Station. Memo OAM-002, Massachusetts Institute of Technology Laboratory for Computer Science, Office Automation Group, January, 1979.

[30]

Keen, Peter G. W. and Michael S. Scott Morton. Decision Support Systems: An Organizational Pespective. Addison-Wesley, Reading, Mass., 1978.

[31]

Kotter, John P. The General Managers. The Free Press, New York, NY, 1982.

[32]

Kunin, Jay S.

Analysis and Specification of Office Procedures.

PhD thesis, Department of Electrical Engineering & Computer Science, MIT, February, 1982.

[33]

Kunin, Jay S.

Analysis and Specification of Office Procedures.

Technical Report 275, Massachusetts Institute of Technology Laboratory for Computer Science, February, 1982.

[34]

Ladd, Ivor and D. C. Tsichritzis.

An office form flow model.

In AFIPS Conference Proceedings, Volume 49, pages 533-539. AFIPS Press, Arlington, Va., May, 1980.

[35]

Leavenworth, B. An Approach to Office System Simulation. Research Report RC7133, IBM Thomas J. Watson Research Center, May, 1978.

[36]

Lieberman, Mark A., Gad J. Selig, John J. Walsh. Office Automation: A Manager's Guide for Improved Productivity. John Wiley & Sons, New York, 1982.

[37]

Lodahl, Thomas M., L. K. Williams, and Phyllis Williams. Management Forum: Providing Management Support in the Automated Office. *Corporate Systems* 4(4), June, 1979.

[38]

Main, Jeremy. How to Battle Your Own Bureaucracy. Fortune 103(13):54-58, June, 1981.

[39]

Malhotra, Ashok, and John M. Parkman. A System for the Automation of Almost-Routine Functions. Research Report RC 6432, IBM, March, 1977.

[40]

Matteis, Richard J.

The new back office focuses on customer service. Harvard Business Review, March-April, 1979.

[41]

Mendes, Kathleen S.

Structured Systems Analysis: A Technique to Define Business Requirements. Sloan Management Review 21(4), Summer, 1980.

[42]

Morgan, H. L., and D. J. Root.

A Concept of Corporate Memory.

In Proceedings of the NYU Symposium on Automated Office Systems, pages 31-36. May, 1979.

[43]

Morrison, Elting E. Men, Machines, and Modern Times. M.I.T. Press, Cambridge, 1966.

[44]

National Bureau of Standards. Guidance on Requirements Analysis for Office Automation Systems. Technical Report NBS Special Publication 500-72, U.S. Department of Commerce, December, 1980.

[45]

Neuman, John L. Make Overhead Cuts That Last. Harvard Business Review :116-126, May-June, 1975.

[46]

Newman, W. Studies of Office Procedures and Information Flow. Internal Memo, Office Research Group, Xerox Palo Alto Research Center, May, 1976.

[47]

Nutt, Gary J. and Paul A. Ricci. Quinault: An Office Modeling System. *Computer* 14(5):41ff., May, 1981.

[48]

Functions and Considerations. MIT Office Automation Planning Committee.

[49]

Propst, R.

The office - A facility based on change. Herman Miller, Inc. Zeeland, Mich., 1968.

[50]

Rockart, John F.

Chief Executives Define Their Own Data Needs. Harvard Business Review, March April, 1979.

[51]

Schoichet, Sandor.

Case Studies of Office Procedures: The Office of Sponsored Research. Memo OAM-022, Massachusetts Institute of Technology Laboratory for Computer Science, Office Automation Group, October, 1980.

[52]

Scott, W. Richard. Organizations: Rational, Natural, and Open Systems. Prentice-Hall, Inc., Englewood Cliffs, NJ, 1981.

[53]

Shepard, Jon M. Automation and Alienation. MIT Press, 1971.

[54]

Sirbu, M. Programming Organizational Design. In Proceedings of the Fifth International Computer Communications Conference. ICCC, North-Holland, 1980.

[55]

Sirbu, M.A. et.al.. OAM: An Office Analysis Methodology. In Office Automation Conference Digest. AFIPS, 1982.

[56]

Sirbu, Marvin A., James W. Driscoll, Robert Alloway, Willam Harper, Moshen Khalil and Michael Hammer.

Office Automation: A Comparison of In-House Studies. Technical Report, MIT Center for Policy Alternatives, May, 1980.

[57]

Sirbu, Marvin, Sandor Schoichet, Jay Kunin, Michael Hammer, and Juliet Sutherland. OAM: An Office Analysis Methodology.

Memo OAM-016, Massachusetts Institute of Technology Laboratory for Computer Science, Office Automation Group, October, 1980.

Revised Jan. 1981.

[58]

Smith, Stephen A.

Minimizing Processing Costs in an Automated Office System. ARG Technical Report 79-2, Xerox Palo Alto Research Center, March, 1979.

[59]

Strassman, P. A. Managing the Costs of Information. Harvard Business Review, September-October, 1976.

[60]

Strassman, P. A.

The Office of the Future: Information Management for the New Age. *Technology Review* 82(3), December/January, 1980.

[61]

Suchman, L. and E. Wynn. Procedures and Problems in the Office Environment. Technical Report, Xerox Advanced Systems Department, April, 1979.

[62]

Sutherland, Juliet.

Case Studies of Office Procedures: The Student Loan Office. Memo OAM-023, Massachusetts Institute of Technology Laboratory for Computer Science, Office Automation Group, May, 1981.

[63]

Sutherland, Juliet, Sandor Schoichet and Michael Hammer. Case Studies of Office Procedures: The Office of Facilities Management. Memo OAM-032, Massachusetts Institute of Technology Laboratory for Computer Science, Office Automation Group, September, 1981.

[64]

Teichrow, D.

Problem Statement Analyzer: Requirements for the PSA. John Wiley & Sons, 1974, .

[65]

U.S. Department of Labor, Bureau of Labor Statistics. Adjustments to the Introduction of Office Automation. U.S. Government Printing Office, Washington, D.C., 1960.

[66]

Working Women, National Association of Office Workers. Race Against Time: Automation of the Office. 1224 Huron Road, Cleveland OH 44115.

[67]

Wynn, Eleanor H.

Office Conversation as an Information Medium. PhD thesis, Department of Anthropology, University of California, Berkeley, May, 1979.

[68]

Zarmer, Craig L. and Jay S. Kunin.

Case Studies of Office Procedures: The Industrial Liaison Office. Memo OAM-020, Massachusetts Institute of Technology Laboratory for Computer Science, Office Automation Group, October, 1980.

[69]

Zarmer, Craig and Sandor Schoichet.

Case Studies of Office Procedures: The Work Control Center. Memo OAM-013, Massachusetts Institute of Technology Laboratory for Computer Science, Office Automation Group, July, 1980.

[70]

Zisman, M. D.

Representation, Specification and Automation of Office Procedures. PhD thesis, The Wharton School, University of Pennsylvania, 1977.

[71]

Zisman, M. D. Office Automation: Revolution or Evolution. Sloan Management Review 19(3):1-16, June, 1978.

[72]

Zisman, Dr. Michael. Office Automation: The Holy Incantation. *Computer Decisions* :124-125, October, 1980.